
City and County of Swansea

Notice of Meeting

You are invited to attend a Meeting of the

Scrutiny Inquiry Panel - Readiness for School
At: Chamber Meeting Room - Civic Centre, Swansea

On: Tuesday, 27 March 2018

Time: 4.30 pm

Convenor: Councillor H M Morris 

Membership:
Councillors: J P Curtice, A M Day, E W Fitzgerald, F M Gordon, E J King and 
P B Smith.  Also invited are Schools Scrutiny Performance Panel members

Agenda
Page No.

1  Apologies for Absence

2  Declarations of Interest
www.swansea.gov.uk/disclosuresofinterest 

3  Readiness for Schools Scrutiny Inquiry Impact and Follow-up 
Report

1 - 57

4  Panel discuss progress which will be reflected in Conveners 
Letter to Cabinet Member

Huw Evans
Head of Democratic Services 
Date: 20 March 2018
Contact: Michelle Roberts, Scrutiny Officer

http://www.swansea.gov.uk/disclosuresofinterest




Report of the Cabinet Member for Health and Wellbeing

SCHOOL READINESS SCRUTINY INQUIRY PANEL
27th MARCH 2018

IMPACT REPORT: SCRUTINY INQUIRY INTO SCHOOL READINESS

Purpose To help the Scrutiny Inquiry Panel to assess the impact of 
their report into school readiness

Content This report deals with three questions related to the impact 
of the inquiry:

1. What has changed since the report was presented to 
Cabinet?

2. Have the agreed recommendations been 
implemented? 

3. What has been the impact of the scrutiny inquiry?

The Scrutiny 
Inquiry Panel are 
being asked to

 Consider the contents of the report
 Reach conclusions about the impact of the inquiry

Lead 
Councillor(s)

Cabinet Member for Health and Wellbeing, Councillor Mark 
Child

Lead Officer(s) Sian Bingham

Report Author Sian Bingham/Sharon Jones

1. Introduction

1.1 The School Readiness Scrutiny Inquiry Panel undertook an in-depth inquiry 
between October 2016 and March 2017.  This final report is attached at 
Appendix A.  The Cabinet Member response and action plan are attached at 
Appendix B.

1.2 The reporting timeline of the inquiry is as follows:

Commenced Oct 2016
Agreed by the Scrutiny Programme Committee 10 April 17
Presented to Cabinet 20 April 17
Cabinet Response agreed 15 June 17

1.3 The final stage of the scrutiny inquiry process is the follow up.  It is at this 
point that the original panel reconvenes in order to asses the impact of the 
work.     

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



1.4 The purpose of this report is to assist the panel as it seeks to answer the 
following three questions, each of which will be dealt with in detail below:

 What has changed since the report was presented to Cabinet?
 Have the agreed recommendations been implemented? 
 What has been the impact of the scrutiny inquiry?

2. What has changed since the report was presented to Cabinet?

2.1 Since the inquiry concluded the following changes in relation to School 
Readiness have taken place:

 A multi-agency event was held to promote the importance of the 1st 1000 
Days and to contribute to the development of a developing future plan.

 Integrated Health and Family Support services for young children have 
continued to develop and embed.

 Funding has been accessed to start the process of evaluating the Jig-so 
project.

 The Childcare Offer Pilot has been implemented and is now being 
expanded on a phase by phase basis.

 Progress has been made in relation to further developing systems to identify 
and support pre-school children with additional learning needs.

 Moderation systems have been initiated to improve the quality and 
consistency of the Foundation Phase Profile Assessment and data.

 Early Years has been chosen as 1 of the 5 priorities in Swansea Public 
Services Board’s Well-Being Plan.

2.2 In summary therefore, changes have occurred at operational and strategic 
levels.  Strategic changes will ensure a longer term commitment and 
strategy is in place whilst at an operational level services are becoming 
more widespread aligned and linked across different organisations.

3. Have the agreed recommendations been implemented?

3.1 In responding to the inquiry an action plan was drawn up showing what 
steps would be taken to implement all of the scrutiny recommendations 
agreed by Cabinet (Appendix B).  

3.2 The table at Appendix B shows progress against each recommendation and 
specifically:

 the Cabinet decision in respect of each recommendation
 the action taken / proposed to implement the recommendations 
 the responsible officer(s)
 timescales involved

4. What has been the impact of the scrutiny inquiry?

4.1 The Inquiry drew a wide range of evidence from across the Council, 
Schools, Health, Further Education, General Practitioners, Flying Start as 

Page 2



well as academic research and key legislation. As a result this has resulted 
in a valuable review of the progress made to date and the direction of travel 
in relation to Swansea’s Early Years priorities. 

4.2 It has also recognised the long term commitment required to continue to 
develop and invest in improving young children’s outcomes so that they are 
ready for school. One of these areas is responding to the requirements of 
the Additional Learning Needs and Education Tribunal (Wales) Act 2018.

4.3 As detailed in section 2 above it is clear that significant progress has 
already been made in less than a 12 month period following the Inquiry.

4.4 Of greatest importance is that that the Inquiry contributed to ensuring that 
Early Years was identified as one of the 5 priorities in the Public Services 
Board’s Well-Being Plan.  This is the greatest legacy of all as it has ensured 
that there is a multi-agency commitment to Best Start/Early Years/School 
Readiness now and into the future.

Background Papers:
None.

Contact Officer: Sian Bingham

Page 3



Cabinet Action Plan (15 June 2017)

Scrutiny Inquiry of School Readiness 
How can school readiness be improved in Swansea?

Recommendation Action already being undertaken New Action Proposed Time
scale

Responsible 
Officer

1. Support those initiatives 
that are clearly improving 
school readiness and 
monitor impact.

As detailed in the Scrutiny Report there 
are a number of programmes, services 
and approaches making a considerable 
impact in relation to the outcomes of 
young children and their families.

There is commitment from the Local 
Authority to supporting this area of work as 
well as a clear multi-agency drive via the 
Healthy City Board and the Public 
Services Board.

At a national level there is a commitment 
to the continuation of a number of the 
major Programmes in the “Taking Wales 
Forward”.  

Continue to support and, where possible, 
build on successful initiatives that promote 
school readiness through investments made 
via the Local Authority, Welsh Government 
and collaboration on a multi-agency basis.

Continue to work with partners to integrate 
services to meet the identified needs of 
families.

To invest in a Prevention Invest to Save 
Framework in order to further develop the 
reporting of impact.

On-going

On-going

March 
2018 and 
on-going

SB

SB

CS/RM/SB

ACTION 1 is: COMPLETED within the available resources and on-going opportunities will be captured in a new Early Years Action Plan.
Progress made: 

 The Flying Start Programme service delivery maintained into 2018/19.
 In November 2017 in collaboration with the Health Board and Public Health Wales Swansea’s 1st 1000 Days event was held in order to promote 

the importance of the earliest days in children’s future outcomes as well as to identify good practice and areas for development on a multi-
agency basis. A strong commitment to integrated services and approaches came through strongly from the feedback which will form part of the 
developing action plan for Early Years Swansea wide.

 Discussions have been held with Social Finance Organisation to seek advice regarding how to evaluate the impact of investments.

2. Support the ethos and 
practice of Flying Start and 
use this as a basis for 
developing early years 

This is one of the aims within the Best 
Start Strategy, initiated via Health City 
Partnership. Progress has been made 
over the last few years to achieve this 

To continue to develop the Jig-so project in 
partnership with the Health Board and, 
should additional resource be available, to 
extend the criteria to include parents over 25.

On-going SB

P
age 4



services outside of the 
designated areas (with the 
longer term aim of 
providing coverage across 
the City and County of 
Swansea.)

within available resources. Examples 
include:

The Jig-so Project has been established to 
work Swansea wide with young parents 
under 25 from pre-birth and throughout 
their child’s infant years. The service 
draws on the principles of the Flying Start 
Programme in relation to the provision of 
support for the family and the child through 
a multi-disciplinary and agency service 
including midwifery, parenting and 
language development.  

An exemplar Project was initiated and 
commissioned by the GP Penderi Network 
to support families and their young 
children outside Flying Start areas with a 
focus on improving parenting skills. As the 
Panel heard, whilst it is early days, the 
post has been very successful to date and 
provided a much needed resource in the 
area. 

During the last year the Local Authority 
has been supporting the Health Board’s 
Commissioning processes in relation to 
developing a proposal to address gaps in 
speech, language and communication for 
children of pre-school/nursery age.

To explore the possibilities with the University 
to start the process of formally evaluating the 
Jig-so Project.

To discuss with the Health Board and GP 
Networks how the funding can be maintained 
and extended for the GP Penderi Network 
Early Years worker service. This would also 
include in relation to replicating the good 
practice in other GP Network areas in the 
future. 

To share good practice from Flying Start 
Childcare settings with non Flying Start 
childcare settings via the implementation of 
the Free Childcare Pilot.

Continue to work with the Health Board to 
develop Speech and Language services in 
the Early Years prior to Reception.

March 
2018

December 
2017

On-going

March 
2018 and 
on-going 
developm
ent

SB

SB

SB

SB/MS

ACTION 2 is: COMPLETED as on-going business as usual.
Progress made: 

 The Jig-so Project continues to be developed to support young parents and their young children.  The Project’s approach was recently 
recognised nationally via winning the Inequalities Category Award at the National Royal College of Midwifery 2018 Awards.

 The Jig-so Project in partnership with Swansea University has been successful in applying for a £10,000 grant to start the process of evaluating 
the approach.

 The Primary Care Early Years Pilot has been extended for a further year by the Penderi GP Network and in addition the Llwchwr GP Network 
has also invested in the project for a 12 month period.

 The Childcare Offer Pilot has been implemented and is now being rolled out on a phase by phase basis Swansea wide. Opportunities for training 

P
age 5



are to be incorporated into the Childcare Training Programme available to all providers. Funding from the WG Childcare Offer Grant would be 
required to further enhance the level of support to non Flying Start Childcare settings.

 The Council working closely with ABMU Health Board secured ALN Innovation Grant funding to purchase Wellcomm packs for all schools, 
including Welsh medium schools. 

o Additional training scheduled in February and March has been arranged to train those schools who are not already using the resource. 
The Wellcomm Toolkit screens the receptive and expressive language skills of pupils on entry to Nursery and provides simple 
interventions to develop language skills in readiness for entry into Year R. 

o A SIMS tracking system is currently live and it is expected that there will be some data from Nursery pupils this academic year (from 
schools that are currently using Wellcomm) but it is envisaged that 2018/19 data sets will be more reliable as all schools should be up 
and running by then. 

o The data collated is dependent on diligent recording across all schools and as such it is hoped that Headteachers will agree to ensure 
that this is in place within their respective school.

3. Ensure the Early Years 
Services led by the Flying 
Start Service in 
collaboration with the 
Additional Learning Needs 
Unit in Education prepare 
for the changes in the 
Additional Learning Needs 
Reform legislation

Two actions have taken place in the Flying 
Start Service to date to prepare for the 
changes in the Additional Learning Needs 
(ALN) reform legislation for the Early 
Years population.   
 Attendance at conferences led by the 

Welsh Government to increase 
understanding of the legislative 
changes and stage of reform process.

 The Additional Learning Needs 
Strategy Group in the Flying Start 
Service has engaged in a review of the 
current processes and provision in 
relation to children with emerging 
Additional Learning Needs across the 
Swansea Flying Start Service. 

The following section summarises the 
current processes and provision in the 
Flying Start Service within Early Years in 
relation to ALN.

A number of tools are available to support 
the identification of children with emerging 
Additional Learning Needs within the 

It is recognised the second draft of the 
Additional Learning Needs Code of Practice 
regarding the legislative reforms for ALN in 
Wales published by the Welsh Government in 
February 2017 still provides a substantial lack 
of clarity.  This lack of clarity particularly 
pertains to the responsibilities of Local 
Authority services in relation to Early Years 
populations regarding the ALN legislative 
reforms in Wales.  

It is also recognised that the ALN legislative 
reforms in Wales are not likely to be formally 
implemented for a number of years.  In 
addition, it is probable that a staged approach 
to implementation will be advocated by the 
Welsh Government.  

However, it is also recognised that it is 
nevertheless important to begin to interpret 
the current and future draft guidance 
prepared by the Welsh Government to begin 
to prepare for the changes in relation to Early 
Years populations for children with emerging 
ALN.  Therefore, the following are proposed:

P
age 6



Swansea Flying Start Service.  Some of 
these tools are already embedded; 
however, it was highlighted and 
recognised that there are also many tools 
that are at an early stage of 
implementation.

A number of different processes and 
services are available to facilitate early 
intervention to support the needs of 
children with ALN within the Swansea 
Flying Start Service.  In addition, these 
processes and services are available to 
support the further exploration of the 
needs of children with emerging ALN.  
These include 
 Individual Play Plans, 
 Home based block play sessions by 

Early Language Development Team 
and the Speech Therapy Team,

 Developmental play sessions in the 
Stepping Stones Additional Learning 
Needs Children’s Centre, 

 Consultation work with the Flying Start 
Speech and Language Therapy 
Service to empower childcare staff and 
parents,

 Consultation work with the Flying Start 
Educational Psychologist to empower 
childcare staff and parents,

 Joint consultation work with the Flying 
Start Speech and Language Therapy 
Service and the Flying Start 
Educational Psychologist for children 
with emerging or identified social 
communication difficulties to empower 
childcare staff and parents,

 Informal drop in consultations for 

As part of the ALN Commissioning Review:
A formal review of the documentation of all of 
the current processes, provision and 
structures in relation to the identification and 
intervention for children with emerging or 
identified ALN within the Early Years 
population in Swansea across all Local 
Authority and Health based services.

A working group to be established (or utilising 
an appropriate alternative existing 
forum/group) that includes both the Early 
Years’ Service and the Additional Learning 
Needs Unit in Education to organise the 
strategic direction of preparing for the 
Additional Learning Needs reform legislative 
changes for the Early Years population. 

Scoping visits to neighbouring Local 
Authorities who have piloted implementation 
of different streams of the legislative 
changes. 

Exploration and decision making regarding a 
system for how Individual Development Plans 
can reflect the severity level of a child’s ALN 
within a graduated response within the Early 
Years population.

Specifically in relation to Flying Start:
An overarching framework to be implemented 
within the Flying Start Service that defines a 
graduated response to co-ordinate the 
identification of and intervention for children 
with emerging or identified Additional 
Learning Needs within the Flying Start Early 
Years population.  

To establish a Flying Start centralised 

March 
2018

March 
2018

March 
2018 and 
on-going 
developm
ent

December 
2017

MS

MS/SB

MS/SB

MS/SB

SB

P
age 7



advice with the Flying Start 
Educational Psychologist,

 Flying Start Additional Learning Needs 
Panel.  This panel provides a decision 
making mechanism for the provision of 
Additional Staff Support for children 
with the most significant and complex 
levels of Additional Learning Needs in 
Flying Start childcare settings to 
provide enhanced learning 
opportunities,

 A number of different services within 
Flying Start refer to services out of 
Flying Start (within Health and 
Education) to further explore a child’s 
underpinning difficulty and to seek 
decisions regarding provision to meet 
the needs of children with emerging or 
identified ALN.

Additional Learning Needs Co-ordinator to 
support the Flying Start Educational 
Psychologist to promote the co-ordination 
and implementation of a graduated response 
to support the identification/intervention for 
children with ALN in Flying Start.  

To explore options to enable individual Flying 
Start Settings to have capacity to implement 
the graduated response.

Development of a common template for 
Individual Development Plans for Early Years 
that will be consistent with the Individual 
Development Plans used for the school 
based and further education populations.

Central Flying Start services to facilitate 
training in order to:
 Promote Flying Start childcare staff 

knowledge in utilising and analysing data 
generated from assessment tools 
available to identify Additional Learning 
Needs.

 Increase knowledge in person centred 
planning philosophy across Flying Start 
services.

 Increase knowledge of Flying Start 
childcare staff and childcare setting based 
Additional Learning Needs Practitioners in 
writing Individual Development Plans and 
One Page Profiles. 

 Increase knowledge of childcare settings 
to facilitate Person Centred reviews.

December 
2017

December 
2017

Septembe
r 2017 and 
On-going 

SB

SB

SB

P
age 8



ACTION 3 is: NOT COMPLETED Significant progress made which will be continued to respond to the requirements of the ALN and Education Tribunal 
(Wales) Act 2018 in relation to Early Years.

Progress made: 
 Initial discussions have been held regarding responding to the specific requirements of the Additional Learning Needs and Education Tribunal 

(Wales) Act 2018 in relation to Early Years. 
o By 2020 the Act requires the Local Authority to identify a designated Early Years Additional Learning Needs Officer and to draft and 

maintain an Individual Development Plan for pre-school children in Early Years settings.  
o It is expected that these requirements relating to Additional Learning Needs in the Early Years will be linked to a broader Council 

Additional Learning Needs Strategy.
 An ALN multi-agency Pathway Development Group has been established within the FS Programme to progress the system and processes for 

the requirements of the forthcoming ALN Bill and to ensure liaison with Education so that there is a co-ordinated approach.  These developments 
will also contribute to the shaping of an approach outside Flying Start areas.

 Training has been provided for FS practitioners and is on-going, benchmarking of approach in other LAs has been undertaken, FS ALN 
documentation has been produced and the recruitment of the FS ALNCO was successful.

 The Council working closely with ABMU Health Board secured ALN Innovation Grant funding to purchase Wellcomm packs for all schools, 
including Welsh medium schools. 

o Additional training scheduled in February and March has been arranged to train those schools who are not already using the resource. 
The Wellcomm Toolkit screens the receptive and expressive language skills of pupils on entry to Nursery and provides simple 
interventions to develop language skills in readiness for entry into Year R. 

o A SIMS tracking system is currently live and it is expected that there will be some data from Nursery pupils this academic year (from 
schools that are currently using Wellcomm) but it is envisaged that 2018/19 data sets will be more reliable as all schools should be up 
and running by then. 

o The data collated is dependent on diligent recording across all schools and as such it is hoped that Headteachers will agree to ensure 
that this is in place within their respective school.

4. Monitor, use and share the 
good practice that is 
emerging in this area.

Considerable monitoring is in place of the 
services and programmes and approaches 
relating to school readiness.  Good 
practice is also shared with wider partners 
as well as other LAs. There have also 
been many opportunities to showcase the 
good practice via presentations at national 
conferences etc.

There will be a continued review and 
development of services and approaches and 
links will continue to be maintained and 
developed with leading academics and 
researchers with expertise in this area of 
work.

SB

ACTION 4 is: COMPLETED as on-going business as usual.

Progress made: 

P
age 9



 Service reviews are on-going to ensure that the offers respond to the needs of pre-school children and their families. For example since June a 
Single Point of Referral has been established into Early Intervention Services and this has also led to a re-configuration of service delivery to 
ensure that parenting interventions are available more widely and in a more timely manner.

 Recent awards have given the services/approaches recognition and the opportunity to share good practice at a national level.

5. Work with schools to 
ensure that they are child 
ready and welcoming to all 
of their pupils by:
a) Developing guidance 
for what constitutes a 
“child ready” school.
b) Encourage schools and 
governing bodies to 
develop a community 
engagement strategy 
which clearly identifies 
how they will work with 
parents of pre-school and 
in the early 
years.(Including Welsh 
Government toolkit being 
more widely shared and 
contents more closely 
considered by schools).
c) More vigorously 
challenging schools on 
their child readiness using 
minimum standards 
developed in 4.8.

a) There are a number of schools already 
demonstrating good practice in relation 
to being “child ready”. However there 
is no overarching guidance on this to 
ensure consistency from school to 
school. 

b) A number of schools have excellent 
relationships with the local community 
and in some cases this includes 
engagement with children and their 
families before they start school. Some 
schools have adopted the Welsh 
Government Family and Community 
Engagement (FACE) Toolkit and have 
been engaged in a research project on 
school engagement with the 
community via UWTSD. There is 
however a need to articulate an 
overarching expectation for all schools 
in relation to the approach relating to 
community engagement including pre-
school.

This is an area identified for development.

a) Guidance to be developed by the 
Foundation Phase Performance 
Specialist. Schools, Flying Start Link 
Teachers and Health colleagues and 
others with expertise relating to pre-
school/nursery aged children will also be 
asked to feed into the guidance.

b) Communication will be issued to schools 
to promote the Family and Community 
Engagement Toolkit emphasising that 
engaging families in their children’s 
learning is a powerful way of raising 
standards and well-being in schools and 
is also essential in narrowing the 
attainment gap between learners from 
richer and poorer backgrounds.

c) Alongside the Challenge Advisers the 
new Foundation Phase Performance 
Specialist will be expected to provide a 
specific focus on Early Years including 
school readiness. The Foundation Phase 
Performance Specialist will be expected 
to also work collaboratively with relevant 
partners including Flying Start, Health 
Visiting and Childcare providers in order 
to achieve this.

March 
2018 and 
on-going 
developm
ent

March 
2018 and 
on-going 
developm
ent

March 
2018 and 
on-going 
developm
ent

RA-D

RA-D

HM-R

ACTION 5 is: NOT COMPLETED

Progress made: 
No progress has been made on this.

P
age 10



6. Encourage the use of the 
Pupil Development Grant 
by schools and/or clusters 
to help develop school 
readiness particularly 
when working with 
parents, families and 
communities.

Currently Challenge Advisers discuss the 
utilisation and effectiveness of the Pupil 
Development Grant on a school by school 
basis. This information has not to date 
been centrally collated and reported.

The Education Improvement Service will map 
the utilisation of the Pupil Development Grant 
during the first term of the 17/18 academic 
year. This will include the identification of 
specific expenditure and activities relating to 
school readiness. 

Challenge Advisers will be asked to 
encourage the utilisation of the grant for 
school readiness purposes citing examples of 
good practice identified through the mapping 
process.

However it should be noted that the terms 
and conditions of the Pupil Development 
Grant have become more restrictive. There is 
a need therefore to also explore other funding 
options in relation to Early Years learners 
with a clear focus on its targeting in relation 
to “age and stage” appropriate school 
readiness approaches and models of 
delivery.

Jan 2018 
and on-
going 
developm
ent

March 
2018 and 
on-going 
developm
ent

HM-R

HM-R

ACTION 6 is: NOT COMPLETED 

Progress made:
Progress made: Some progress made to date
A PDG summary document has been collated which contains information on how schools in Swansea are using their PGD grant funding. The analysis 
has started and early findings show the following:

 Some schools are employing Wellbeing/Pastoral Support Officers whose roles include working with families in deprivation; 
 Some schools have employed staff to co-ordinate ‘TAF’ (Team Around the Family);
 Some schools mention productive links with parents through parental workshops, FAST and Families Connect;
 Some schools have the links with parents and families so that they are better informed and equipped to support their children at home whilst 

another school has developed successful school/home visits for pre-school nursery. 
The next step involves further liaison with Challenge Advisers to ensure that their discussions with Headteachers includes ‘school readiness’ 
which links with the Wellbeing agenda. This is part of the focus for the core visits. Challenge Advisers will discuss current provision and explore 
the good practice already in place for ‘school readiness’ in order to share more widely with schools across Swansea.
The Challenge Adviser with responsibility for the PDG grants has been consulted and has agreed to work with the Strategic Lead for Foundation 

P
age 11



Phase in order to support schools with ‘school readiness’.
 

7. Ensure that the recently 
introduced Foundation 
Phase Profile baseline has 
more consistency and 
robustness.

This is a relatively new national 
assessment which has only been 
implemented since September 2015. Data 
is collated during the summer months for 
analysis.

The results produced for year 1 reflected 
inconsistencies suggesting differences in 
interpretation and application across all 
primary schools. It is however 
acknowledged that it takes a number of 
years to fully embed a new assessment.

Following the appointment of a new 
Foundation Phase Performance Specialist 
who will take up post in September 2017 the 
data produced during the 2015/16 and 
2016/17 academic years will be further 
analysed. 

A plan will be developed and implemented to 
address identified issues arising from the 
analysis such as including areas for further 
training and challenge.

Jan 2018 
and on-
going 
developm
ent

Jan 2018 
and on-
going 
developm
ent

RA-D

RA-D

ACTION 7 is: NOT COMPLETED 

Progress made: 
A working party comprising of all stakeholders has been established to share recommendations and develop a united understanding of the actions to be 
undertaken. 

Expectations and time scale has been shared and agreed with all primary headteachers and Flying Start representatives. 

All clusters have been represented through their Cluster Assessment Leads who have disseminated information, keeping headteachers and reception 
teachers informed. Areas of learning have been selected and levels allocated to individual schools ensuring a coverage of all subject areas and levels. 

Cluster Assessment Leads have taken part in standardisation sessions ensuring consistency and a shared understanding of the compact profile. 

All Reception teachers attended a Moderation Training day, comprising of Foundation Phase Profile training, training on the importance of observational 
comments feeding into assessments, standardisation and moderation. 

During Moderation, Cluster Assessment Leads identify good practice within each cluster that will feed into a levelled portfolio at the end of the Summer 
term. 

P
age 12



8. Develop minimum 
standards in relation to 
transition to school for 
both schools and day care 
settings.

Within the Flying Start Programme there 
are very effective examples of good 
practice relating to Transition from 
Childcare to Nursery. Swansea’s model of 
locating Flying Start settings on primary 
school sites has been instrumental in 
ensuring effective transition. 

Many examples of good practice within 
Flying Start schools have been recognised 
in School Estyn Inspection Reports.

During the last year the Local Authority 
has been supporting the Health Board’s 
Commissioning processes in relation to 
developing a proposal to address gaps in 
speech, language and communication for 
children of pre-school/nursery age.
Swansea’s Flying Start Programme was 
selected as 1 of 5 LAs to take part in a 
national programme to track children from 
Flying Start and into school and beyond. 
The purpose of this is to link national 
datasets between health and education to 
identify the impact of the Programme on 
individual children’s outcomes.

Achieving a consistent approach to 
transition outside the Flying Start model 
was identified as an area for development 
both from a childcare setting to school and 
between health visiting and school.

The Early Years Transition Group led by 
the previous Foundation Phase 
Performance Specialist was developed to 

The new Foundation Phase Performance 
Specialist taking up post in September 2017 
will be required to implement and monitor this 
recommendation working closely with 
partners.

In addition transition will need to be re-visited 
in light of the new Free Childcare Pilot being 
implemented from September 2017 whereby 
there will be a greater expectation of close 
working between schools and childcare 
providers.

Continue to work with the Health Board to 
develop Speech and Language services in 
the Early Years prior to Reception.

The National Flying Start Data Linking Pilot 
will be implemented during 2018.

May 
2018 
and 
on-
going

Jan 2018 
and on-
going 
developm
ent

Jan 2018 
and on-
going 
developm
ent

RA-D

MS/SB

SB

P
age 13



support the progression of the Swansea 
Early Years Strategy with a particular 
focus on:

 Developing minimum standards in 
relation to transition for early years 
services

 Ensuring that each school has an 
EY Plan in place setting out how 
children’s holistic needs will 
continue to be supported during 
the Foundation Phase in order to 
build on the momentum gained

It recognised that whilst there is a wealth 
of data collected about children, it was not 
clear what information schools receive 
from the perspective of the child and their 
family, about the individual needs of 
children to enable smooth and successful 
transition into school. 

Recognising children’s right to voice in 
decisions that affect them, the group 
explored how children could further 
contribute to shaping their transition. 

A common information booklet was drafted 
and presented to YCA. These standards 
were agreed by the Swansea Primary 
Head teachers Association for 
implementation.

ACTION 8 is: NOT COMPLETED 

Progress made: 
 Foundation Phase Strategic Lead met with Flying start representatives to build a working relationship and share good practice. Cluster Assessment 

Leads met with flying start personnel including managers to share practise of observational comments that assess using the compact profile, inform 

P
age 14



planning and set individual targets.  
 To date no issues have emerged from the Childcare Offer Pilot in relation to difficulties encountered in terms of transition between the Childcare 

entitlement and the Early Years provision.
 Speech and language – as per response to recommendation 3.
 The National Flying Start Data Linking Pilot project has been implemented in Swansea. Results from the data provided is awaited.

9. Support the “Best Start 
Swansea Initiative” as a 
Public Service Board 
priority for the coming 12 
months.

Early Years and specifically the Best Start 
Messages formed one of the 4 priorities 
for the PSB during 2016/17.

There is support from some members of 
the PSB for an Early Years focus for the 
next 12 months particularly given its 
importance in relation to the Future 
Generation Act and with drivers such as 
the Adverse Childhood Experiences.

The PSB has organised a process for 
partners to be involved in selecting its 
priorities.

That Early Years is identified as a priority in 
the forthcoming PSB workshop on 11 July 
and Board meetings.

July 
2017 
and 
on-
going

SB

ACTION 9 is: COMPLETED 

Progress made: 
 The Public Service Board has identified Early Years as one of its 5 priorities for the Well-Being Plan. This was supported via public consultation.
 Steps to achieve the outcomes have been developed. These steps draw from the feedback from the 1st 1000 Days Event and also reflects many 

of the on-going recommendations in the School Readiness Scrutiny Report which means that they will continued to be developed into the longer 
term.

P
age 15



 
 

School Readiness  
Scrutiny Inquiry 

  
 How can school readiness be improved in Swansea? 

 

 

 
 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

The School Readiness Scrutiny Inquiry Panel  

City and County of Swansea - Dinas a Sir Abertawe 

 
March 2017

 

  

 

Page 16



 

 

Why This Matters  

Foreword by Councillor Hazel Morris 

 

 

 

 

 
We found there to be a wealth of evidence that suggests investment in early years 
services, including children’s school readiness, is hugely beneficial, not only to 
children and their families, but society as a whole.  There is evidence that this 
investment can help to break the cycle of disadvantage in our communities by 
changing children’s life chances. 
 
We were interested to explore the many examples of good practice being shown that 
helps make children and parents school ready.  This included for example a visit to 
St Helens Primary School and Flying Start where they are aspiring to be a school 
that is at the heart of the community, and the parents we spoke to said that they had 
achieved this aim.  We also visited Stepping Stones and the Swansea Children 
Centre where they are working to develop children’s physical and emotional school 
readiness and preparing children and their parents for the transition to school. 
 
However, a key finding from our inquiry was that it is not only children and parents 
that need to become more school ready but schools themselves need to be more 
‘child ready’.  We felt that there could be more robust challenge for schools on this 
aspect. 
 
We also found gaps in service provision for families in Swansea. In particular, the 
coverage of multi-agency support via Flying Start is only available to one quarter of 
children and their families in Swansea.  We recognised that this is based upon the 
areas identified as having most need but we know that there are children requiring 
this type of support across other parts of Swansea.  All children would benefit from 
this type of provision, so we would like to see the excellent practice and the ethos 
found in Flying Start replicated in other areas. 
 
We hope that Cabinet will find this report useful and that our recommendations go 
some way in helping to improve school readiness in Swansea. 
 
The Panel met nine times over a four month period in order to complete this inquiry. I 
would like to thank the members of the Inquiry Panel who gave their time and 
commitment and all of those people who gave evidence and information to the 
Panel.   

Page 17



 

 

Contents  

1. Why we produced this report  1 

1.1.1 Overview 1 

1.1.2 Selecting the topic 1 

1.1.3 Context of the inquiry and intended contribution 2 

2. Evidence collected  4 

3. Conclusions  4 

3.1 Understand the cause and effect of the issues faced by 
children and their families in Swansea 

4 

3.2 Protect investment in early years services 7 

3.3 Support those initiatives that are having a clear impact on 
children having the best start in life 

8 

3.4 Measure impact 13 

3.5 Ensure that schools are child ready 15 

3.6 Organisations must work closely together to address gaps 
identified in the delivery of early years services 

16 

3.7 Keep early years issues high on the agenda 18 

3.8 Engage with parents, families and the wider community 18 

3.9 Raise public awareness of school readiness and encourage 
use of key messages across Swansea 

24 

4. Recommendations  25 

5. Acknowledgements  27 

6 About the Inquiry  27 

 

 

  

Page 18



 

1 

1 WHY WE PRODUCED THIS REPORT 
 
Overview  
 
1.1.1 This report focusses on the following question:   

 
How can school readiness be improved in Swansea? 
 

Selecting a topic  
 
1.1.2 The inquiry into school readiness was proposed at the Annual Scrutiny Work 

Planning Conference in May 2016 and was subsequently included in the 
scrutiny work programme by the Scrutiny Programme Committee. 
 

1.1.3 This topic was chosen because: 
  

There is considerable international evidence from a wide spectrum of leading 
academics and practitioners that investment in the early years will break the 
cycle of disadvantage by changing children’s life chances.  They are better 
able to make a positive contribution to society and at the same time reduce 
the need for very costly remedial services across the public sector. 
 
‘Action to reduce health inequalities must start before birth and be followed 
through the life of a child.  Only then can the close links between early 
disadvantage and poor outcomes throughout life be broken’.   
The Marmot Review Fair Society, Healthy Lives 
 

 The Panel agreed to investigate the following aspects: 
  

1. What is meant by improving children school readines s in practice? 
What is involved in developing children’s school readiness including for 
example: self-care, literacy, language and socialisation. 

2. Cause and effect: What is the effect of children’s school readiness on 
their longer-term educational performance?  What are the reasons for 
children not being ready for school? How do the council and its partners 
engage with parents/carers currently and what are we doing to improve 
this? 

3. Partners/professional relationships: Who is involved in improving 
children’s school readiness in Swansea and do they work together 
effectively to achieve this aim, particularly in relation to engaging parents? 

4. Working with families: How does the council and its partners work with 
families to help improve children’s school readiness? 

5. Impact: What has been the impact of those initiatives that help develop 
school readiness with particular reference to parental engagement? 

6. Good Practice: Look at guidance and examples of good practice in 
improving school readiness particularly parental engagement. 

Page 19



 

2 

The Context of the inquiry  
 
1.1.4 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1.1.5 

Population 
There are approximately 13,200 0-4 year olds living in the City and County of 
Swansea which accounts for 5.5% of the overall population. An overview of 
recent trends over the ten-year period 2004-2014 reflects a growth of around 
1,000 0-4 year olds (+7.8%), mainly attributable to an increasing number of 
births, particularly since the late 2000s. The number of live births in Swansea 
between January 2015 and December 2015 (inclusive) was 2,344. (1179 
male and 1165 female). 

Services 
Funding for early years services is provided through a variety of sources 
including the Health Board, the Local Authority, the Welsh Government, 
generated income and grants.  Services are provided on a multi-agency basis 
across the Local Authority, Health Board, Schools, Private Sector and 3rd 
Sector. Given the diversity of the sector it is very difficult to ascertain a clear 
and accurate picture of investment Swansea wide in early years provision 
across universal, targeted and specialist services. 

1.1.6 One Swansea Plan 
The purpose of this plan is to improve the wellbeing of people in Swansea by 
ensuring that professionals and the public work together. It was developed by 
Swansea Local Service Board which included the main public service 
agencies for the area and representatives of the voluntary and business 
sectors.  The two key aspects relating to early years in this plan include: 
 
A. Children Have a Good Start in Life  
A good start in life for our children is the key to community wellbeing for all. 
The pre-school years are the time when the biggest difference can be made. 
If children have a good start in life they are likely to be healthier, likely to be 
better learners and less likely to experience deprivation. These factors lead in 
turn to a greater likelihood of a good job and of gaining a better standard of 
living. All of these factors mean that people are more able to look after the 
environment and contribute to safe and prosperous communities.  
 
B. People Learn Successfully  
Learning is critical for individual and community wellbeing. School age 
learning is of course our main focus but learning needs to be lifelong with 
generations supporting each other. Education helps to lift people out of 
poverty and protects those at risk of poverty and disadvantage. Skills increase 
employability and benefit the economy. Opportunities for lifelong learning and 
skills development need to be available in the workplace and in communities 
as well as in formal setting. Informal education and training has an important 
role to play. 
 

1.1.7 Corporate Plan – Corporate Priority 4 
There are a number of key areas which the Council are working to address 
relating to early years including: 
• Children having the best start in life and being able to achieve in their early 

years enabling them to learn and thrive. 

Page 20



 

3 

• Families are supported to live healthy lives 

What needs improving? 
• We need more accessible high quality services for all children aged 

between 0 – 7 years of age. 
• We need to ensure all children are able to be ready for school and 

therefore able to play, communicate, move and problem solve. 
• We need to ensure that children of all ages maximise their learning 

potential. 

What are we going to do? 
Implement Swansea’s Early Years Strategy which is working with Health to 
ensure all children that live in Swansea are supported to develop and be the 
best they can be. This is going to be done by: 
• Raising standards in child development within all childcare settings. 
• Using the Swansea statement to raise awareness of child development. 
• Running Flying Start Plus and our Early Years language pathway. 

What Outcomes are we seeking to achieve? 
• Children have a good start in life; 2 and 3 year old children in the Flying 

Start are helped to achieve their expected language, emotional, social and 
cognitive development. 

• Children who are not disadvantaged by poverty when achieving and 
attaining standards and wellbeing in education. 

 
Intended Contribution  of Inquiry  
 
1.1.8 As a Panel we believe that we can make a valuable contribution to this topic.  

We recognise that, while there are no easy answers, success will only come 
from a conversation that everyone is able to contribute to.  It is in this spirit 
that our conclusions and recommendations are offered. 
 

1.1.9 Specifically this report aims to contribute to this vital debate by: 
 
• Offering proposals for improvement 
• Providing a councillor perspective 
• Drawing together some general principles addressing gaps in 

development of early years services 
• Pointing to good practice examples 
• Sharing the views of different people involved 
 

1.1.10 We are happy to recognise the limitations of the inquiry.  Given the complexity 
of the topic and the time that we had this report necessarily provides a broad 
view. 
 

1.1.11 Finally, many of our conclusions are in line with the Council’s current direction 
of travel and these are offered in order to provide reassurance.  Others may 
be either additional or contrary to what has already been agreed.  These are 
intended to offer challenge and to stimulate debate.  Where we have made 
recommendations these are intended to help improve the service. 

Page 21



 

4 

2 EVIDENCE COLLECTED 
 
2.1.1 Evidence was collected between November 2016 and February 2017.  The 

evidence gathering activities undertaken included: 
 
a. Visit to Stepping Stones Children’s Centre, meeting with staff and parents 
b. Swansea Library Service 
c. Visit to Swansea Children’s Centre meeting with staff and parents 
d. Meeting with Health Visitors 
e. Visit to St Helens Primary School Flying Start, meeting with staff and 

parents 
f. Meeting with representatives of the GP Partnership Project pilot 
g. Meeting with Headteacher from Trallwn Primary School 
h. Survey of Welsh Medium Primary Schools and day care settings 
i. Meeting with Cabinet Member for Wellbeing and Healthy City and 

Performance & Early Intervention Strategic Manager  
j. Relevant policy, advisory and research documents 
k. University of Wales Trinity St David, Early Years Project 
 

2.1.2 For full details of the evidence gathered including details of all the findings 
from each session please see the evidence pack for this inquiry.  This can be 
downloaded at www.swansea.gov.uk/scrutinypublications  

  
3 CONCLUSIONS 
  
 This report considers the findings from the scrutiny inquiry into school 

readiness.  Each of these conclusions therefore is a suggestion about how the 
Council’s Cabinet might approach this problem.  Specific proposals are 
identified throughout and listed separately in the recommendations section 
that follows and are designed to answer the inquiry key question ‘How can 
school readiness be improved in Swansea?’  
 

3.1 Understand  the cause and effect of the issues faced by childre n and 
their families in Swansea  
 

3.1.1 We found little consensus as to what constitutes being ‘ready for school’ 
across the sector and at what age relates to being school ready, is it at 5 or at 
3 years of age?  The panel recognise that child development does not 
necessarily line up with school starting age.  Children starting school at 3 are 
much less ready than those at 5 years.  Our inquiry therefore also led us to 
consider whether schools are ‘child ready’, which we will explain later in the 
report. 
 
The term ‘school ready’ was considered vague by the Panel who agreed to 
define their inquiry to ‘Children 0-5 years of age particularly relating to self-
care, literacy, language and socialisation with particular reference to how we 
and our partners work with parents and care-givers to ensure children are 
ready for school’.   

  

Page 22



 

5 

3.1.2 The Panel heard that the Healthy City Board in Swansea, of which Swansea 
Council is part, have made a commitment to prioritising Early Years (-9 
months to 5 years) and to improving school readiness.  The approach and 
impetus has been in collaboration with the Institute of Health Equity (Marmot 
Review) under the Healthy City programme. They are working with partners in 
Swansea to accelerate progress in reducing health inequality by focussing on 
‘giving every child the best start’.  Councillors were pleased to hear that this 
approach is rooted in the principle of a universal strategy and by targeting of 
services on a proportionate basis Swansea wide.   

  
3.1.3 The Healthy City Board has pledged, as part of the School Readiness 

Strategy, to ‘improve young children’s development outcomes across the 
population with a clear focus on closing the gap in school readiness between 
advantaged and disadvantaged groups of young children’ by ensuring that the 
four recommendations from the strategy are met by: 
 
1. Increasing awareness of readiness (raise awareness of how families and 

communities can improve a child’s school readiness through a statement 
of key messages) 

2. Assessing and signposting (early identification of developmental needs, 
increased accessibility to early years services, promotion of community 
around the child approach) 

3. Service Re-orientation and Development (expansion of the coverage of 
the early years pathway, greater co-ordinated level of resource 

4. Data and Service Quality (Routine use of data collection and sharing to 
drive developmental milestones, quality of early years services through a 
motivated and highly skilled workforce. 

 
3.1.4 

 
The Panel did feel that many of the initiatives available in the defined target 
areas like Flying Start are excellent and are clearly making an impact in 
school readiness but that there are still children and families who need such 
services outside of those defined areas.  The challenge in our communities is 
how we address that difference: are we only giving every child in Flying Start 
areas the best start in life?  Councillors found from speaking to schools and 
parents that children are clearly more ‘ready’ for school after they have been 
to a Flying Start setting.   
 

3.1.5 The Marmot Review Fair Society, Healthy Lives1 highlights the issue of 
inequalities in early childhood development.  The Panel supported the policy 
objectives and recommendations that are detailed in this report relating to 
early years in particular: 
 
Priority objectives 
1. Reduce inequalities in the early development of physical and emotional 

health, and cognitive, linguistic, and social skills. 
2. Ensure high quality maternity services, parenting programmes, childcare 

and early years education to meet need across the social gradient. 
3. Build resilience and well-being of young children across social gradient. 

                                            
1 Marmot Review Fair Society, Healthy Lives 

Page 23



 

6 

Policy recommendations 
1. Increase the proportion of overall expenditure allocated to early years and 

ensure that expenditure on early years development is focused 
progressively across the social gradient. 

2. Support families to achieve progressive improvements in early child 
development, including: 
• Giving priority to pre- and post-natal interventions that reduce adverse 

outcomes of pregnancy and infancy 
• Providing paid parental leave in the first year of life with a minimum 

income for healthy living 
• Providing routine support to families through parenting programmes, 

Children’s Centres and key workers, delivered to meet social need via 
outreach to families 

• Developing programmes for the transition to school. 
3. Provide good quality early years education and childcare proportionately 

across the gradient. This provision should be: 
• Combined with outreach to increase the take-up by children from 

disadvantaged families 
• Provided on the basis of evaluated models and to meet quality 

standards. 
 

3.1.6 Positive childhood experience and actions to reduce and negate negative 
influences in children’s early years is considered central to breaking the cycle 
of disadvantage in communities.  This in turn will improve children’s life 
chances and reduce the need for expensive interventions in later years.  
 
‘Children who experience stressful and poor quality childhoods are more likely to 
adopt health-harming behaviours during adolescence which can themselves lead to 
mental health illness and diseases such as cancer, heart disease and diabetes later 
in life.  Adverse Childhood Experiences are not just a concern for health.  
Experiencing ACEs means individuals are more like to perform poorly at school, 
more likely to be involved in crime and ultimately less likely to be a productive 
member of society.’  
 
An increasing body of research identifies the long-term harms that can result from 
chronic stress on individuals during childhood.  Such stress arise from the abuse and 
neglect of children but also from growing up in households were children are 
routinely exposed to issues such as domestic violence or individuals with alcohol and 
other substance use problems.   
Adverse Childhood Experiences, Public Health Wales 20162 
 
The Public Health Wales 2016 report into Adverse Childhood Experiences 
(ACEs) and the impact on health-harming behaviours in the Welsh adult 
population (Alcohol Use, Drug Use, Violence, Sexual Behaviour, 
Incarceration, Smoking and Poor Diet) was considered by the Panel and the 
conclusions from this document were seen as key in understanding what 
affects children’s future life changes, thus enabling interventions to be put into 
place that can help address these ACEs or even stop them happening.  

                                            
2 Public Health Wales, Report into Adverse Childhood Experiences in Welsh Adult Population 

Page 24



 

7 

The Panel agreed that positive early years experiences are vital to develop 
the necessary resilience and to mitigate adverse impacts and that 
consideration and integration of this research into policies across those 
services working with children and young adults was extremely important.  
 
Some work has begun into breaking the ACE Cycle in Wales through national 
and local policies and programmes.  A range of national policies and 
programmes are being progressed which aim to: 
 
• Identify and intervene where children may already be victims of abuse, 

neglect or living in adverse childhood environments; 
• Better equip parents and care-givers with the necessary skills to avoid 

ACEs arising within the home environment and encourage development of 
social and emotional well-being and resilience in the child; 

• Ensure that indirect harms from for instance, domestic violence, substance 
misuse and other mental and behavioural problems in the family setting 
are identified, addressed and their impact on children minimised. 

 
In Swansea these polices are being addressed through tackling poverty 
programmes like Flying Start, Families First and Communities First.  These 
programmes are targeted to the most deprived communities in Swansea.  The 
Panel felt that these services are doing excellent work but we must ensure 
that the momentum in these developments is continually progressed and 
maintained. 
 

3.1.7 The Wellbeing and Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 puts in place a 
Sustainable Development Principle which tells organisations how to go about 
meeting their duty under the Act.   The Panel found that there are five key 
ways of working that apply to this and these must be the objective of, and built 
into, planning for early years services.  These include: 
 

1. Long-term - balancing short-term needs with the need to safeguard the 
ability to also meet long-term needs. Objectives must look ahead to 
the long-term at least 10+ years and up to 25+ years into the future. 

2. Prevention - when setting and taking steps to meet its well-being 
Objectives, acting to prevent problems from occurring or getting worse. 

3. Integration - considering how its Well-being Objectives may impact 
upon each of the seven Well-being goals and on its other objectives 

4. Collaboration - considering how it can work with other public bodies, or 
with other parts of the same organisations to meet the Well-being 
Objectives. 

5. Involvement - involving people with an interest in achieving its Well-
being Objectives and ensuring that those reflect the diversity of the 
area. 

  
3.2 Protect investment in the early years  services  
  
3.2.1 
 
 

The Panel explored the economic case for allocating scarce public resources, 
from pregnancy to age 2, including children being school ready.  Transforming 
Young Lives across Wales, The Economic Argument for Investing in Early 

Page 25



 

8 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

3.2.2 

Years, Bangor University3 talks about shifting the spending curve towards 
prevention and early years investment and how this shift in investment would 
result in the need to spend less in later life services. 
 
‘Health economics highlights the fact that decisions about resource use involve 
choices that are ultimately trade-offs in the use of public sector resources, trade-offs 
between different groups in society and trade-offs between different stages in the life 
course.’  
 
‘Through investment in Early Years, Wales will benefit in terms of the economy and 
improve social cohesion.  Babies born today could have a greater opportunity to 
thrive than at present.’ 
 
The Panel recognise that we have started on the path of investment in 
prevention and early intervention in Swansea but the argument within this 
paper indicated developing things further over the longer term.  This links to 
and can be supported by the recommendations outlined in the Wellbeing and 
Future Generation Act 20154.  The Act will expect local authorities and its 
partners to ‘look to the long term as well as focusing on now take action to try 
and stop problems getting worse - or even stop them happening in the first 
place’. 
 
The Panel heard that Budgets for the sector are cross-agency and that 
currently there is no pooled budget in place to provide additionality to core 
services.  Any increase in budget for Early Years within the authority or the 
Health Board will require a shift of resource from elsewhere as there are no 
additional resources available. 
 
The findings of the inquiry indicate that should any dedicated Early Years 
funding including Flying Start be reduced or cut then at this will have a 
detrimental impact on our ability to deliver the Strategy and ultimately on 
improving outcomes for the youngest children in Swansea. 
 

3.3 
 
 
3.3.1 
 

Support those initiatives that are having a clear impact on  chil dren  
having the best start in life  
 
The Panel heard about the core aspects of the Early Years Strategy in 
Swansea and the impact it is making for young children and their families. 
     

3.3.2 The first of these aspects is the Healthy Child Wales Programme which has 
the overarching aim of developing resilient families that are able to support 
their children to achieve the best possible health, social and educational 
outcomes. In Swansea the Healthy City Board is focussing on giving ‘every 
child the best start’ and is working to deliver this aim in conjunction with 
partners across the public and voluntary sector. 

                                            
3 Transforming Young Lives across Wales, The Economic Argument for Investing in Early Years, 
Bangor University 
4 Wellbeing and Future Generations Act 2015 

Page 26



 

9 

  
The premise of the focus on ‘best start’ is that experiences during ante natal 
and infant years of a child’s life shape their future life chances.  Positive early 
years experiences are vital to developing the necessary resilience and to 
mitigate against adverse impacts.  The Panel however recognised that it is 
very difficult to quantify the direct impact as leading economists argue that the 
impact is longer term with the financial benefits across a wide range of sectors 
and organisations.  The Panel heard that economists say that there would be 
a 4:1 return for every £1 spent in this area. 

 
3.3.3 

 
The Early Years Pathway is an important aspect that has the overall aim of 
developing the level of resilience within the family.  The Panel heard that an 
assessment is made that determines which Health Visiting level the family will 
receive: universal, enhanced or intensive.  The assessment is completed with 
the child and family. This programme is delivered in close collaboration with 
partners across the public and third sector and most importantly in partnership 
with families.  The assessment consists of looking at the child’s early years 
development and an analysis of the family and child’s needs,  then using this 
to signpost or refer/identify interventions to address the needs identified. 
 
The Panel recognise that Health Visitors play a pivotal role in achieving the 
best possible start in life for children and their families.  This is done by 
working with and supporting families during the crucial early years of a child’s 
life. 
 
The emerging evidence shows that investment in the early years of life has 
significant positive impact on a child’s health, social and educational 
development and their long term outcomes. The health service has a 
fundamental role in supporting families so children are in a position to fully 
realise their potential. The delivery of the Healthy Child Wales  
Programme should make a significant contribution in ensuring this support is 
readily available. 
 
The Welsh Government expects that every child and family will be offered the 
HCWP. The programme underpins the concept of progressive universalism 
and aims to identify a minimum set of key interventions to all families with pre-
school children, irrespective of need. For some families there will be a need to 
increase intervention to facilitate more intensive support. 
An overview of the Healthy Child Wales Programme NH S Wales 
 
The Panel was particularly interested to hear about the assessments made in 
early years as part of the surveillance component of the Healthy Child Wales 
Programme. We are keen to see universal identification of resilience with 
more intensive support for those who require it. The Panel believe that this 
will, in time, show improved school readiness as one of the aspects of 
improving children’s life chances. 

  

Page 27



 

10 

3.3.4 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
3.3.5 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Flying Start 5 is a Welsh Government Initiative Early Years programme for 
families with children less than four years of age who live in some of the most 
deprived areas of Wales. Flying Start is targeted at defined geographical 
areas within each Local Authority where there are the highest concentrations 
of households in receipt of income benefit. Flying Start is offered universally 
within these areas.  
 
Flying Start forms part of a targeted pathway where approximately 25% of 0-3 
year olds are eligible. All children and their families are entitled to  

o Funded childcare for 2-3 year olds for 2.5 hours a day 
o Flying Start Health Visiting Programme 
o Parenting support 
o Early language development 

Swansea has 19 Flying Start facilities based within Schools of which 1 is a 
dedicated welsh medium setting.  

In addition there is 1 specialised pathway catering for children with additional 
needs at Stepping Stones (Action for Children) in Killay. 

The legislative context is changing with regard to Additional Learning 
Needs.   The (final) Additional Learning Needs and Education Tribunal 
(Wales) Bill was presented to the National Assembly for Wales on 
12.12.2016. Unsure when royal assent will be given.  The first draft Code of 
Practice was published in September 2015. The second draft is likely to be 
published in February 2017. 

One of the key legislative changes will have significant implications for Early 
Years including Flying Start.  This change relates to the change in age range 
where support for children with ALN must be given.  The change in age 
relates to children and young people from the ages from 0-25 years. It is 
anticipated that the new code will provide much more in depth information.  

In light of this it is suggested that it would be beneficial for the Early Years 
Services led by the Flying Start service in collaboration with the Additional 
Learning Needs Unit in Education to begin to prepare for these changes.   

3.3.6 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3.3.7 

Integrated Children’s Centre s are based on the concept of providing an 
integrated service to secure good outcomes for children and their parents and 
thus ensure the best start in life. Each Centre provides: open access play, 
early years education, high quality childcare, community training, other vital 
family support services.  Currently in Swansea we have one Children’s Centre 
located in Penlan, with a second under construction located in Mayhill. 
 
The Panel were pleased to see that Flying Start facilities now form part of 
schools which is good for not only relationship building with parents but for 
ease of transition from Flying Start into school.  The Flying Start and school 
are able to mirror activities and behaviour which help prepare both the child 
and their parent/s for the demands and structure of school life. 

                                            
5 Flying Start Wales Government: http://gov.wales/topics/people-and-communities/people/children-and-
young-people/parenting-support-guidance/help/flyingstart/?lang=en  

Page 28



 

11 

3.3.8 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
3.3.9 
 
 
 
3.3.10 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3.3.11 
 
 

The Panel looked at what practically is done within Flying Start and Children’s 
Centres that develops school readiness believing that this then can be shared 
and used in areas/setting where Flying Start does not operate.  They found 
(not an exhaustive list): 
 
• Structured childcare that mirrors early primary school and is operated as a 

professional day care setting. 
• Access to Health Visitor and the Health Wales Programme 
• Early language development, improving communication and socialisation 
• Working closely with parents and providing assistance, advice and support  
• Transition to school 
 
The Panel found there to be a number of other initiatives that are or could 
potentially show promise in improving early years development and these are 
detailed below. 
 
Penderi GP Partnership Project,6 the purpose of this project is to ensure 
that key parenting messages are getting out to children and their families in 
order to effect positive change and to reduce the impact of adverse childhood 
experiences.  The Partnership includes: 
 

• GP cluster, which included GPs, Practice Managers and the Parenting six 
GP practices within the Penderi Partnership Network 

• post-natal services/Health Visitors 
• early intervention team 
• child and family clinics based within primary care settings 
 
The main aim of this work is to provide support and skills training for parents 
with the purpose of promoting children’s wellbeing by enhancing protective 
factors and reducing their exposure to risk.  This is done by: 
 
• supporting families to build upon skills and knowledge that allow parents to 

better meet the needs of their children 
• Working with families in order to assess need in order to identify a family 

plan that will support the bespoke family learning 
• Offering support, advice and guidance and interventions on a range of 

issues such as domestic violence, behaviour management 
• Building protective factors and resilience within families 
 
The Panel were supportive of this pilot which is showing early evidence that is 
very positive.  
 
Education begins at Home Campaign run by Wales Government7, the 
Campaign highlights that the home environment is the single biggest factor in 
educational attainment. By creating an environment that values education and 

                                            
6 Penderi GP Partnership Network – Cluster Action Plan 

7 Education begins at Home Campaign run by Wales Government 

Page 29



 

12 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3.3.12 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3.3.13 
 

 

 

3.3.14 

 

 

 

 

 

 
3.3.15 

 

 

supports a child’s learning, parents are giving their child a significant head 
start in life. Its strapline is ‘Helping your child at home makes a difference to 
their performance in school.’  
 
The Education begins at home campaign on Facebook and Twitter is a place 
for parents and care givers to share ideas on how to help their child through 
education and play. Partners are encouraged to post useful links to activities 
and learning tools that can help children develop their learning skills. 
Information and links to a wide variety of education based topics is also 
available on the page. 
 
Attachment Theory emphasises the importance of children making secure 
attachments with their main care-giver within their first three years. It suggests 
that, if these attachments fail to be made, this can have a lasting impact on 
the child, with the effects often re-emerging during adolescence.  Within 
education, children and young people may tend to underachieve, are often 
punished for poor behaviour or are excluded.   Attachment awareness is 
aimed at helping schools to recognise the issues involved, to support pupils 
with attachment difficulties, and thereby to improve attainment, behaviour and 
overall wellbeing for both pupils and staff.   There are a number of risk factors, 
such as poverty, poor parental mental health, neglect, family bereavement, 
and frequent moves of home or school, but children from apparently non-
vulnerable backgrounds may also suffer.  
 
We recognise that there was a clear need for attachment awareness training 
and that this is huge piece of work but it was important all organisations 
working with children and young people partake. Councillors were pleased to 
see a programme of attachment training was being rolled out across 
Swansea. 
 
Assessing the quality of Early Years Settings and the impact on children’s 
outcomes through an evaluation tool is being completed by University of 
Wales Trinity St David’s in Swansea.  The Panel met with Professor Jane 
Walters who is leading this piece of work.  
 
The Panel heard that research suggests that for settings to have a significant 
long term effect on outcomes they must be excellent and not just good.  The 
research did tell us that there may be some gaps is assessing this by Estyn 
because even ‘Green’ Schools may not have good early years practices as 
this is not covered well by assessment. The Panel were pleased to hear that 
Estyn are looking at this.  The focus of Estyn on wellbeing is welcomed 
although they are still working on what this means in practice.  The Panel also 
heard that evidence suggests that early years practice works well in Swansea. 
 
Jig-so Project, a holistic model of delivery during  the earliest years - 
provision of holistic support for young and vulnerable first time parents, both 
mothers and fathers, Swansea wide via a multi-disciplinary and multi-agency 
team of midwives, Nursery nurses and parenting and early language 
development practitioners. It complements and works alongside universal 
core health services to engage parents into a pathway of support that aims to 

Page 30



 

13 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.3.15 

 

 

3.4 

3.4.1 
 
 
4.4.2 

better enable them to meet their baby and infant’s needs and build the 
resilience factors needed to thrive as a family.  
 
It is still early days as the project has only been fully up and running since 
May 2016. To date therefore the following has been identified as the main 
headlines: 

• A new model of delivery ensuring integration across different organisations 
and professions with a focus on innovation 

• Effective early identification and intervention through the links with core 
midwifery and young babies not being accommodated by the Local 
Authority at birth due to the work starting pre-birth to build parental skills 
and resilience.  

• Above Welsh average breastfeeding rates for this group of young mothers. 
In 15/16 63% young mothers involved with the service were breastfeeding 
at delivery (national average 60%).  

• In a recent parental relationship group attended by 5 couples 100% of the 
mothers initiated breast feeding at delivery 

• 92% with improved family relationships 
• Of 34 pregnant mothers that reported they smoked during pregnancy, 15 

reduced their smoking behaviour (44%), and 8 stopped completely (24%), 
meaning that 68% either reduced or stopped smoking during pregnancy 

• Out of 121 participant parents, 111 (92%) reported an improved ability to 
support their child’s learning and development needs.  

• The same number reported that they felt that they could contribute to 
changes to their lifestyle and behaviours.  

• 102 (84%) reported an improvement in emotional/mental wellbeing 
Presentation at the annual BEVAN conference in Cardiff 2016 as a case study 
by parent, midwife and manager 
 
The Panel heard that there is considerable momentum for prevention and 
investment in the Early Years on a multi-agency basis Swansea wide. We 
were pleased to hear about the early impact of this project and model of 
delivery has led to the development of a business case to extend the project 
to all vulnerable parents and not solely those under 25 years of age.  

Measure Impact 

Measuring impact is important in ensuring that we are supporting the right 
initiatives and making the argument for future financial support.   

The Panel visited the Children’s Centre in Penlan where they spoke to staff 
and parents about developing children’s school readiness.  They found the 
Children’s Centre to be a welcoming and homely environment with staff who 
are well trained and enthusiastic about what they do.  Panel members were 
impressed with the variety of activities that take place at the centre, having 
visited a mindfulness session with parents, the day care setting and speaking 
to parents and the Health Visitor. 

 

Page 31



 

14 

ICCs have a range of positive impacts on the development of children  
Children who attend the Integrated Children’ Centre’s (ICCs) have enhanced social 
and cognitive skills. As a result of attending activities at the centres, children are 
more sociable and interact in a more appropriate way with peers and adults. Strong 
links with primary schools affiliated to the ICCs improve the extent to which children 
are prepared for schools. The positive discipline at the ICCs also supports children’s 
transition from the Centres to school and improves their behaviour. (NFER 2010)8 

3.4.3 
 
 
 
 
3.4.4 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
3.4.5 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

3.4.6 

The Panel heard that a new Family Centre in Mayhill was under construction 
and are supportive of this development believing that if it reflects the facilities 
and support provided by the Children’s Centre in Penlan it will be of great 
benefit to Swansea. 
 
The Panel found, from the evidence gathered, that children who have 
attended Flying Start settings are generally more prepared because they have 
experienced routines needed for school and parents feel more supported and 
prepared for that transition. 

Flying Start only opened here in St Helens Primary School in 2014 but we are seeing 
a real difference in pupil’s preparedness as they move into Primary School.  Pupils 
are more sociable and resilient than many pupils who have not accessed Flying 
Start.  Headteacher St Helen’s Primary School 
 
Nationally, the Welsh Government evaluate the impact of Flying Start on a 
regular basis with the last report detailing its effect on educational attainment 
which concluded that:  

Despite the unknowns, it is possible to make the tentative conclusion that the 
attendance of children, who were potentially eligible to receive at least two years of 
Flying Start provisions, is better than those who lived in the same areas prior to the 
implementation of the programme. Their attendance is also improving at a more rapid 
pace than children living in non-Flying Start areas. It also appears that children who 
were potentially eligible for Flying Start provisions, who also have special educational 
needs, were more likely to be identified early than those in other areas and before 
the implementation of Flying Start. Similarly, the differences in attendance and 
attainment between children living in Flying Start areas and those in non-Flying Start 
areas appear to be diminishing.  

Despite these positive results, the differences found over time can only be partially 
attributed to Flying Start. A wide range of changes and programmes have been 
introduced since the implementation of Flying Start, such as the Foundation Phase 
and the Pupil Deprivation Grant. In addition to this, there are a large number of 
unobserved factors which could influence educational outcomes, but which could not 
be included in this analysis. Therefore, with the currently available data, it is only 
possible to make these tentative conclusions on the impact of Flying Start, or each of 
the specific provisions, on children’s educational outcomes.  
Wales Government Flying Start Evaluation: Educational Outcomes Feb 2017 
Conclusions - Impact of Flying Start9  

The Panel understand that it takes a ‘brave financial leap’ to invest in the 

                                            
8 National Foundation for Educational Research: Evaluation of Integrated Children’s 
Centres in Wales (NFER 2010)  
9 WG Flying Start Evaluation: Educational Outcomes: Conclusions 

Page 32



 

15 

 
 
 
 
 
 
3.4.7 

prevention and early intervention but it clearly forms part of an ‘invest to save’ 
agenda.  The need to shift resources towards early intervention and 
prevention is going to be key to supporting children and their families in the 
future. It will not only have benefits to children and their families but to society 
as a whole.   

The Panel concluded that Flying Start/Children’s Centres in Swansea provide 
excellent facilities and support for children in their early years, with a clear aim 
of getting children school ready.  Practice learnt through this way of working 
must be shared across the sector particularly in areas that are not supported 
by Flying Start.  In an ideal world the Panel would like to see Flying Start 
offered right across Swansea but recognise the financial implications of this. 
The Panel were pleased to hear that Swansea plans to replicate the Flying 
Start approach on a proportionate basis according to need beyond the current 
geographical limitation and to invest in up-skilling the early years workforce 
and beyond in Swansea. 
 

 We therefore recommend Cabinet to:  

R1 Support those initiatives that are clearly improving school readiness and 
monitor the impact.  

R2 Support the ethos and practice of Flying Start and use this as a basis for 
developing early years services outside of the designated areas (with the 
longer term aim of providing coverage across the City and County of 
Swansea) 

R3 Ensure the Early Years Services led by the Flying Start service in 
collaboration with the Additional Learning Needs Unit in Education 
prepare for the changes in the Additional Learning Needs Reform 
legislation. 

R4 Monitor, use and share the good practice that is emerging in this area.  
_____________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 
3.5 
 
3.5.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

3.5.2 

Ensure that Schools are child ready  
 
Schools being ‘child ready’ was a recurring theme throughout the inquiry.  
Some schools are working closely with parents and other settings like Flying 
Start and Stepping Stones as well as the wider community while others, it 
seems, do very little before a child starts with them. 
 
We develop our knowledge of the children before they start at the Flying Start and 
the school through Health Visitor visits so that the schools is ready for its pupils and 
the pupils are ready for school.  
St Helens Primary School and Flying Start 
 
The research project carried out by University of Wales Trinity St David on the 
quality of early years settings in Swansea has been working with a number of 
schools in Swansea. Their main focus has been looking at whether settings 
are ready for children.  They found that excellent settings will have some 
engagement with the community however they do not expect homes to be 
perfect settings.  They said: 
 
Good experiences and being valued in school settings gives children resilience for 

Page 33



 

16 

other aspects of their lives.  It is really important that schools value children from the 
start - schools fail if children feel they do not fit - if schools are too rigid in their 
responses to children some will become disenfranchised. 
University of Wales Trinity St David’s Early Years Project 
 

3.5.3 
 
 
 
 
 
3.5.4 
 
 
 
 
 
3.5.5 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3.5.6 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3.5.7 

The Panel heard that building on the Trallwn School Pilot, a survey of Primary 
schools is being developed to ascertain whether there are arrangements in 
place to engage with children and their families before they start school, what 
they do and whether they have future plans or aspirations to develop this 
area.  
 
The Panel considered how schools could potentially make themselves more 
child ready, as there seems to be little consistency on this issue.  The Panel 
questioned whether there needs to be clearer guidance for schools as to what 
constitutes being a ‘child ready school’.  The Panel felt that there needs to be 
more robust challenge on this aspect. 
 
Some schools are using their pupil deprivation grant for this purpose.  The 
Pupil Deprivation Grant provides schools and educational setting with 
additional funding to support children who are entitled to Free School Meals. 
Some of the ways that schools nationally have used their pupil deprivation 
grant for this purpose include: 
• To employ staff to focus upon family engagement programmes 
• Training existing staff on significant meaningful relationships with families 

and the wider community 
• To facilitate whole school training on for example attachment 
 
In Swansea, St Helen’s Primary School and Flying Start have used some of 
their Pupil Deprivation Grant to employ a Family Engagement Leader within 
the school. Their role is to link with all families, especially new ones, get to 
know them, build up trust and an understanding and explain expectations of 
school. They act as an advocate for the family, can signpost to specialist 
external support services such as EYST, BAWSO, and offers pastoral 
support. They are also key in welcome meetings working alongside teachers 
to ensure the family understand what is expected from them and their child at 
school. 
 
The Panel heard about the new Foundation Phase Profile and how this will 
help to develop a baseline when children start school.  Initial data taken from 
the results for the first Foundation Phase Profile Baseline Assessment run 
during Autumn Term 2015 is now available.  We recognise this is a new 
assessment and as such it will take some time before it settles down to 
become a reasonably robust assessment tool. Analysis has also been 
completed to show how outcomes vary between schools, and this shows that 
in some schools the assessments may not be robust at this stage.  It is likely 
to take a few years for the results to be more reliable and consistent across all 
schools. 
 

 
 

We therefore recommend Cabinet to:  

R5 Work with schools to ensure that they are child ready and welcoming to 

Page 34



 

17 

all of their pupils by: 
i. Developing guidance for what constitutes a ‘child ready’ school 
ii. Encouraging schools and governing bodies to develop a 

community engagement strategy which clearly identifies how they 
will work with parents pre-school and in the early years. (Including 
Welsh Government toolkit more widely shared and contents more 
closely considered by schools). 

iii. More vigorously challenge schools on their child readiness using 
minimum standards developed in R7 

R6 Encourage the use of the Pupil Deprivation Grant by schools and/or 
across clusters to help develop school readiness particularly when 
working with parents, families and communities. 

R7 Ensure that the recently introduced Foundation Phase Profile baseline 
has more consistency and robustness. 

_____________________________________________________________________________________________  
 
3.6 

 
Organisations must work closely together to address  the gaps identified 
in the delivery of early years services 
 

3.6.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3.6.2 
 
3.6.3 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3.6.4 
 
 
 
3.6.5 
 
 
 
3.6.6 
 
 

No one service, working in isolation, will achieve the positive impact that 
organisations working together can achieve.  The Panel heard for example 
that a key aspect of the success of the Healthy Child Wales Programme will 
be its partnership working with local authorities, communities, education and 
the third sector. We felt that identifying and addressing gaps in delivery in 
Early Years services is much better addressed when organisations work 
together. 
 
The Panel found that there are some potential gaps in service provision.  
 
Flying Start facilities are excellent but only support approximately one quarter 
of Swansea’s geographical area.  The Panel recognise that this is targeted at 
those areas identified as having the most need but did feel that there are 
children and families across the City and County that would fall into that 
category.  The difference to school readiness that Flying Start makes to pupils 
was recognised by the Panel who felt that this would be of benefit to all 
children and their families in Swansea.  The Panel recognise that funding will 
not allow this to be available to all but did believe that more could be done to 
develop innovative ways of using the Flying Start ethos, partnership working 
and other good practice in those areas outside of the defined areas. 
 
The Panel heard that there is support to replicate a Flying Start approach 
beyond the current geographical areas and we heard that this is being 
progressed based upon a ‘proportionate basis according to need’. 
 
The new Welsh Government Free Childcare for 3 and 4 year olds policy will 
be a challenge to deliver but the Panel felt that this will be an opportunity to 
help build the right capacity in those areas not covered by Flying Start. 
 
The Panel heard that there are plans to upskill the early years workforce 
across Swansea which again was an excellent opportunity to develop the right 
ethos and attitudes to school readiness. 

Page 35



 

18 

 
3.6.7 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3.6.8 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
3.6.9 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
The Panel were pleased to hear about the work taking place or proposed to 
address identified gaps in service delivery particularly relating to non-Flying 
Start areas including: 
• A multi-agency and multi-disciplinary service between Early Intervention 

Services and Midwifery to identify and support parents and their 
babies/children, from -9 months and throughout the infant years. This is 
specifically for those that would benefit from support above the core Health 
generic services offer, in order to better enable them to meet their child’s 
needs and build resilience within the family unit. 

• A new partnership with a GP Network for an exemplar project for 12 
months to deliver parenting skills and interventions to young children and 
their parents referred by the GPs. 

• A speech and language proposal and an Early Years proposal under the 
Prevention Plan. 

 
The Panel found that not all schools and day care settings provide effective 
transition to school processes.  The Panel were particularly interested in the 
work carried out in Flying Start facilities, Stepping Stones and some schools 
in the transition period to school.  
  
The transition is much easier when pupils go from the Flying Start setting to the 
School as we are located at the same place and managed through the school.  
Running up to the transition children are taken across to the school and activities and 
expectations are mirrored for both child and parents.  Parents say that the transition 
is smooth and straightforward with very little disruption for the child. 
Headteacher, St Helens Primary School and Flying St art  
 
Transition can be difficult for children and parents of pupils with disabilities with new 
environment and people.  We do our best to work with the school the child is 
transitioning to.  Some schools are excellent at this, visiting Stepping Stones meeting 
with child and parents/carers to discuss the child and their needs.  Others schools we 
have little contact with through transition.  It would be good if more schools accessed 
Stepping Stones for transition tips. 
Stepping Stones Children’s Centre Manager 
 
It was found that working with children and their parents in this key transition 
stage would make the move to school much smoother for the child, the 
parents and the school.  Getting to know the child and family, sharing 
information and developing a transition plan seem to be the key to success. 
The Panel would like to see more consistency across schools and day care 
setting in this key transition period with a minimum standard in relation to 
transition in early years services developed. 
 

3.6.10 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

We saw Speech and Language development as a key issue and a recurring 
theme throughout the inquiry.  We found that access to, assistance and 
support outside of Flying Start areas was much less than within Flying Start 
areas.  The Panel recognise the importance of speech and language in a 
child’s development and the ability to interact and socialise with peers, in 
learning at school and how it impacts on future life chances.  We were 
pleased to hear that Early Years speech and language development are 
priorities within the Prevention Strategy and as such business cases are being 

Page 36



 

19 

 
3.6.11 

made for increasing funding to enhance this aspect.   
In Trallwn Primary School speech and language training is provided to all staff 
to ensure understanding.  It was felt that development was particularly 
accelerated when early communication needs are identified before the child 
starts school and shared through the transition period. 
 
We therefore recommend Cabinet to:  

R8 Develop minimum standards for transition to school for both schools and 
day care settings. 

  
 

3.7 
 
3.7.1 

Keep early years  issues high on the agenda   
 
The Panel believes Early Years need to continue to be high on the agenda 
and a priority across all partners’ business plans. The opportunity to address 
this issue through the multi-agency Public Services Board (PSB) is supported 
by the Panel. This year it is one of the Board’s identified priorities but it 
finishes as a defined priority in May 2017. The Panel however heard that 
there is a call from some of the members of the PSB for it to be kept as 
priority beyond this current year.  Panel members agreed and will include this 
as a recommendation to Cabinet. 
 
We therefore recommend Cabinet to:  

R9 Support the ‘Best Start Swansea Initiative’ as a Public Service Board 
priority for the coming 12 months. 

  

 
3.8 Engage with parents, families and the wider communit y  

 
3.8.1 
 
 
 
 
 

The Panel found that parental engagement can have a positive impact on a 
child’s learning and that is why it is so important to engage with and include 
parents in their child’s education. 

Parents have an important stake in the education of their children and play a 
significant part in supporting their children’s learning. Effective parental involvement 
sets aspirations and shapes the child’s self-concept as a learner. Estyn  

3.8.2 The Joseph Rowntree Foundation found in their research, looking at poverty 
and low educational achievement in Wales10, that parental (family 
involvement) in their children’s education has a causal influence on children’s 
school readiness and subsequent attainment compared with other 
interventions it reviewed. They suggest, however, that providing parents with 
better information and access to appropriate support and advice appears to 
have the greatest effect. This enables them to conclude that interventions that 
simply raise parents’ aspirations for their children to succeed are likely to be 
unsuccessful, whereas those which ‘enable and encourage parents actively to 

                                            
10 Joseph Rowntree Foundation Poverty and Low Educational Achievement in Wales: Student, Family 
and Community Interventions 

Page 37



 

20 

engage with their child’s learning and the education system more generally’ 
are usually successful.  The report concludes that Interventions focused on 
parental involvement, extra-curricular activities and mentoring should be 
prioritised within the Flying Start, Families First and Communities First 
programmes.  

Where there is particularly effective parental involvement, the single most important 
driver is the enthusiasm of the Headteacher. When a school plans and implements 
positive policies to involve parents, this can have a significant impact on improving 
pupils’ wellbeing, particularly in relation to behaviour and school attendance. Estyn 
 

3.8.3 Panel members found there to be a number of reasons behind some parents’ 
lack of engagement which can become barriers to them being involved in their 
child’s education. Schools, the council and its partners need to identify these 
families and look at ways of overcoming or mitigating them in order to get 
meaningful engagement.  Some of these barriers include: 

• Parents perceiving schools as presenting obstacles, e.g. lack of 
encouragement, not informing parents of what they can do, and having too 
little scope for fitting around busy working and family lives.  

• Costs, time and transportation, language (for some parents for whom 
English is not a first language), low levels of literacy and numeracy, and a 
lack of confidence. 

• Understanding their world…especially families that have a chaotic life, 
negative personal experience and/or have low expectations or value in 
education. 

• Parental attitudes "Not my job." Some parents feel that active involvement 
and assistance is the responsibility of the school and the teachers to 
educate their children  

• Attitudes of some teachers - There is also variation within schools in terms 
of the attitudes of different teachers; some are welcoming and 
encouraging of involvement where others may be less so. 

• Specific barriers faced by some families, for example, asylum seekers and 
refugees. Asylum seekers and refugees find themselves in situations of 
poverty, and may suffer discrimination or stigmatisation. As newcomers 
they face language barriers. They lack knowledge on how local systems 
operate and very often they do not know where to go to access information 

3.8.4 During the Panel’s inquiry they found that some of the activity that currently 
takes place to engage and involve parents in early years development is 
excellent. 

3.8.5 Health Visitors working in communities see families on a regular basis 
running up to a child starting school.  The Panel saw this as a very important 
part of the jigsaw of support that parents receive to prepare their child for 
school.  The Panel heard about the Family Resilience and Assessment Tool 
that Health Visitors complete with the parents to help to identify the level of 
resilience within the family which in turn assesses the amount of support the 
family need.  The Panel felt that although in its early stages, it was a good 
example of how services can work closely with parents to get the best 

Page 38



 

21 

outcomes for their children. 

3.8.6 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3.8.7 

The Penderi General Practitioners Partnership and the Primary Care Early 
Years Project is working closely with parents and families with the aim of 
providing a person centred approach to support and skill training for parents 
to improve their family resilience.  They work in partnership with families to 
assess need and develop a family plan that will support family learning and 
is bespoke and tailored to the needs of that family.  We heard that it is in its 
early stages where 37 families have received or are receiving a service and 
of those, 35 have children under 5 years. 

The Panel met with some of those people involved in the partnership and 
were keen to hear about this multi-agency funded work designed to reduce 
or mitigate the effects of adverse childhood experience so that children can 
have a better start in life.   They agreed with the assessment made at the 
meeting that there is a lot of great potential in this way of working, that early 
results are promising, and that it was important to collect evidence of how it 
was working and to assess its impact over time. 

Flying Start/Children’s Centres providers have parental inclusion and 
involvement built into every part of their work with children, from working with 
pregnant women, young mothers and dads through to the transition to 
school as children leave the early years setting.   

 

Visit to Children’s Centre in Penlan  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3.3.8 

The Panel visited two settings and were very impressed with their inclusivity, 
finding that they work hard at reaching and involving parents not only in 
relation to the child’s development but around the parents’ own wellbeing.  
The Panel found that both the Children’s Centre in Penlan and St Helen’s 
Primary Flying Start  show excellent practice in making children and their 
families school ready, in particular with harder to reach and vulnerable 
families.  

The Headteacher at St Helen’s Primary School said that one of the main 
aims of the school is to be ‘at the heart of the community’ and the parents we 

Page 39



 

22 

spoke to said that it is excellent and they are doing that now.  

Parental involvement in the schools visited ranges from a school being 
described as the ‘hub’ of the community where parents, including those from 
disadvantaged groups, feel very welcome in the school and await the next 
project with enthusiasm to a school where parents are rarely involved beyond a 
few formal events. Estyn 

We met with a group of 15 parents whose children attend St Helens Primary 
School Flying Start and heard a number of important messages including: 

• Both children and parents feel they are more ready for school when their 
child is/has attended Flying Start  

• The inclusivity of the School and Flying Start is central to its success   
• The importance of the big focus on bringing community together and 

actively encouraging that through their work with parent/families 
• Being able to access a number of different services and support from one 

location, for example the Health Visitor to baby massage 
• Both parents and staff expressed how proud they are of the school 
 

3.8.9 
 

The Panel found Trallwn Primary School to be working intensively with the 
local community, including and involving it in the work of the school.  This 
has improved school readiness of pupils who may (or may not) end up going 
to the school.  At a meeting with the Headteacher we discussed this good 
practice and the importance of addressing not only parents’ skills but the 
norms in the community, that by knowing families before they come into 
school they are much better prepared to support and teach children.  We 
heard about the universal approach to pre-school engagement and the 
specialist targeted support and about how partnership working with Health 
Visitors and speech and language specialists was also very important.   

The school uses the Wales Government Family and Community 
Engagement Toolkit11 which supports engagement with parents but heard 
that this toolkit was little known or used by schools generally.  The use of this 
toolkit could be more widely considered for use by schools along with the 
practice learnt by Trallwn in relation to engaging the community more widely. 
Trallwn Primary School is not part of a designated Flying Start area and the 
Panel felt that this approach could go some of the way in helping to address 
the gap in parental engagement in non-Flying Start areas. 

Engaging families in their children’s learning is a powerful way of raising standards 
and well-being in schools. It is also essential for narrowing the attainment gap 
between learners from richer and poorer backgrounds. 
This toolkit will help schools develop their approach to family and community 
engagement. The focus is on engagement that will improve learning outcomes, and 
on engaging with families of children who are underperforming, from deprived 
backgrounds or who get less support for their learning at home.   
 
The toolkit is structured around 5 themes: 

                                            
11 Family and community engagement toolkit for schools, Wales government 

Page 40



 

23 

1. Practical support to school leaders to help them embed family and community 
engagement in the ethos of the school 

2. How to build the school’s capacity for engagement. 
3. How to overcome barriers to engagement, including families that interact with 

the school less frequently or have needs that are harder to accommodate. 
4. Ideas and examples of how schools can engage with families as serious and 

practical partners in children’s learning. 
5. Information on helping families find additional support and how to plan more 

effective transitions with a focus on what is important for the learner and their 
family. 

Wales Government Family and Community Engagement To olkit 
 

3.8.10 The Panel heard about the work Swansea Library Service does to reach out 
into the Community, in working with children and their families and ultimately 
how this helps with children’s school readiness.  

Library and library activities are free, therefore allowing children and families 
from all backgrounds to use it.  Each library has a designated children’s area 
with a selection of resources and there are no overdue fees on children’s 
books.  They run reading and writing groups, baby rhyme-time and many 
other activities where parents and children can engage.  They also work with 
schools to encourage children and families to join and use the facilities. 

Bookstart is another useful tool which is administered by the Library Service 
in partnership with health.  In addition to the Bookstart pack a Bookshine 
pack for hearing impaired children and Booktouch for visually impaired 
children are used.  Dual language packs are also given out to those families 
whose first language is not English. 

The Panel recognised the ability to easily access libraries and the work that 
libraries do within our communities. They were interested to hear that people 
find the environment and atmosphere in libraries a safe and non-
judgemental one and people who may not engage with other services able to 
engage with libraries.  The Panel emphasised the importance of libraries as 
community hubs where people come for many reasons other than to borrow 
books e.g. use computers, borrow music simply to read the newspaper and 
be amongst other people. 

3.8.11 The Panel visited the Action for Children Stepping Stones facility which 
provides support and early years services for children with disabilities.  They 
provide a specialist Flying Start style pathway working closely with parents 
and carers in supporting their needs.   

The Panel had a one to one discussion with a parent at the facility who had 
found the Stepping Stones engagement and support for her as a parent to 
be invaluable.  She said that Stepping Stones has been a lifesaver and has 
helped us deal with the many issues I have experienced when having a child 
with Autism, helping us to move forward and my son is now due to start 
Primary School shortly. Although she explained that this was not without its 
problems she found the transition to Primary School particularly difficult 
because only one of the four schools she visited was either suitable 
physically or welcoming to her and her children.  The Panel were concerned 

Page 41



 

24 

to hear this and feel that many schools still need to be better prepared and 
more welcoming for all pupils.  

3.8.12 It is It is clear that there are many examples of good practice in parent and 
community engagement in Swansea let alone further afield but what has 
become evident is the need particularly for more engagement of schools with 
parents and their communities in order to prepare their children for school.  
Some schools are working much more closely with parents and families 
particularly those with a Flying Start Setting but very few do extensive work 
in the local communities like Trallwn Primary School.  The Panel felt that 
there is scope for much more parental and community engagement 
especially in those areas that do not have Flying Start.  The Panel felt that 
more cluster working in relation to this aspect could be developed.  

3.8.13 The Panel were concerned that there does not seem to be any clear strategy 
for how schools involve parents and whether there is any formal monitoring 
of the extent of parental involvement. They felt that parental engagement 
requires an active partnership with parents and this needs to be pro-actively 
developed.   The Panel questioned whether schools should have their own 
community engagement strategies based upon the requirements of their 
communities. 

3.8.14 The Panel emphasised the importance of those working with children and 
families to engage them in partnership.  Parents must feel part of the child’s 
development not feeling that things are being done ‘to’ or ‘for’ them but ‘with 
them’. 

3.8.15 It was felt that the good practice evident in our Flying Start settings around 
parental engagement should be shared more widely and considered by 
schools in Swansea, particularly in their work with vulnerable and harder to 
reach parents/families. 

3.8.16 The use of ICT can also be a useful tool to improved parental engagement, 
by providing a convenient means for parents to access up-to-date 
information about their child’s learning and provide more information for 
parents. 

3.9 Raise public awareness of school readiness  and encourage us e of   key 
messages across Swansea 
 

3.9.1 
 
 

The importance of school readiness is clear but the Panel feels that it is 
necessary to highlight the importance of raising awareness of this issue and 
using key messages to educate the population as a whole. 

3.9.2 
 
 
 
 
 
 

One of the Healthy City Partnership key initiatives is called Best Start 
Swansea which includes a key messages campaign that relates specifically 
early years with the purpose of raising awareness and changing attitudes 
that predominate in some communities.  

Using this organisations are asked to take an active role through: 

Page 42



 

25 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
3.9.3 

• The use of the publicity materials, promoting twitter and Facebook and 
website pages 

• actively seeking opportunities to up-skill their workforces 
• Identifying key contacts to lead on the campaign within their 

Organisations 
• To link/facilitate events under the Best Start banner 
 

 
 
Panel members would like to see Best Start Swansea continue as a priority 
for the Public Services Board in the coming year because these key 
messages, from their viewpoint, still need to reach communities. 
 
The Panel felt that the key messages found in the Welsh Adverse Child 
Experiences (ACE) Study must to be shared and understood across schools 
and the early years sector.  The impact of ACEs on children’s future life 
chances is clear, with actions to prevent or to mitigate those being central to 
improving those children’s chances of a successful and fulfilling life. 

This latest report shows how experiencing abuse and other problems in childhood is 
linked with increased levels of chronic disease in adulthood and much greater use 
of health care. What happens to us as children can make our bodies develop 
differently, leaving them more vulnerable to conditions like Type 2 diabetes and 
heart disease in later life. Emphasising the importance of a healthy start for all 
aspects of a child’s life, Professor Bellis continues: “Finding solutions to the harms 
children suffer and the problems adults face because of their childhood experiences 
needs a new life course approach to health. 

"This cannot be achieved by the NHS alone. That is why we are working with our 
key partners, including the Welsh Government, police, local authorities, charitable 
and voluntary sector organisations, to develop a joined-up approach to prevent 
ACEs and support adults whose health is suffering because of childhood trauma," 

Page 43



 

26 

he concludes. 
Welsh Adverse Childhood Experience Study (Nov 2016)  

3.9.4 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3.9.5 
 

The Panel wanted to highlight the UNCRC guiding principles12 and ensure 
that these key messages resonate in our communities and guide our public 
services in Swansea. 
 
• Article 2 - Non-discrimination (All rights apply to all children without 

exception. It is the State's obligation to protect children from any form of 
discrimination and to take positive action to promote their rights) 

• Article 3 - Best interests of the child (All actions concerning the child shall 
take full account of his or her best interests)  

• Article 6 - Survival and development (Every child has the inherent right to 
life, and the State has an obligation to ensure the child's survival and 
development) 

• Article 12 - The child's opinion (The child has the right to express his or 
her opinion freely and to have that opinion taken into account in any 
matter or procedure affecting the child) 

 
Councillors considered the Welsh Government Initiative called ‘Ready to 
Learn’13 which was launched last year, that aims to raise awareness and 
advise parents on how to give your child the best start at school.    It details 
some of the things that parents can do to prepare their child for school 
emphasising the importance of education beginning at home.   
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

It includes for example: visiting the school with your child before they start to 
meet the reception teacher and borrow storybooks from your local library 
such as ‘your first day at school’, reading to your child and encouraging them 
to recognise their name.  There is a Facebook page and associated 
materials that parents can use with their children to improve their school 
readiness. 

 

4.0 RECOMMENDATIONS 
  
4.1 Support those initiatives that are clearly improvin g school readiness 

and monitor the impact.  

4.2 

 

 

4.3 

Support the ethos and practice of Flying Start  and use th is  as a basis 
for developing early years services outside of the designated areas 
(with the longer term aim of providing coverage acr oss the City and 
County of Swansea) 

Ensure the Early Years Services led by the Flying S tart Service in 
collaboration with the Additional Learning Needs Un it in Education 
prepare for the changes in the Additional Learning Needs Reform 

                                            
12 http://www.childrensrightswales.org.uk/uncrc-principles.aspx  
13http://gov.wales/topics/educationandskills/schoolshome/parents/education-begins-at-home/?lang=en   

Page 44



 

27 

legislation . 

4.4 Monitor, use and share the good practice that is emerging in this ar ea.  

4.5 Work with schools to ensure that they are child ready and welcoming 
to all of their pupils by: 

a) Developing guidance for what constitutes a ‘chil d ready’ school. 
b) Encourage schools and governing bodies to develo p a community 

engagement strategy which clearly identifies how th ey will work 
with parents pre-school and in the early years. (In cluding Welsh 
Government toolkit being more widely shared and con tents more 
closely considered by schools). 

c) More vigorously challenging schools on their chi ld readiness 
using minimum standards developed in 4.8. 

4.6 Encourage the use of the P upil Deprivation Grant  by schools and/or 
across clusters to help develop school readiness pa rticularly when 
working with parents, families and communities. 

4.7 Ensure that the recently introduced Foundation Phas e Profile baseline 
has more consistency and robustness.  

4.8 Develop m inimum standards in relation to transition to school for both 
schools and day care settings. 

4.9 Support the ‘Best Start Swansea Initiative’ as a Pu blic Service Board 
priority for the coming 12 months. 

.  
  

Page 45



 

28 

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS 

The Panel would like to record its thanks to the following people who came and gave 
evidence to us: 
 

• Staff and parents at Stepping Stones, Action for Children in Killay. 
• Staff and parents at the Children’s Centre in Penlan. 
• Staff and parents at St Helens Flying Start 
• Headteacher at Trallwn Primary 
• Swansea Library Service 
• Health Visitors in Flying Start settings 
• Penderi GP Partnership Project  
• Quality of Early Years Setting Project, University of Wales Trinity St David’s 
• Prevention and Early Intervention Strategic Manager 
• Cabinet Member for Wellbeing and Healthy City 
• The Welsh Medium Schools and early years settings that responded to our 

Survey 
 
 
ABOUT THE INQUIRY PANEL  

The School Readiness Scrutiny Inquiry Panel is a team of Councillors who are not 
members of the Cabinet.  Their role is to examine a strategic issue of concern and to 
make recommendations about how policies and services can be improved. 

Members of the Panel  

Councillors 
Hazel Morris (Convener) 
Wendy Fitzgerald 
Fiona Gordon 
Jan Curtice 
Paulette Smith 
David Anderson Thomas (Co-opted Parent Governor Representative) 
 
The inquiry was supported by Michelle Roberts from the Council’s Scrutiny Unit. 

For further information contact: 

Michelle Roberts, Scrutiny Officer 
City and County of Swansea 
� 01792 637256 
 
 
 
 

Page 46



Report of the Cabinet Member for Health and Well-Being 

Cabinet – 15 June 2017 

RESPONSE TO THE REPORT OF THE SCHOOL READINESS INQUIRY PANEL

Purpose: To outline a response to the scrutiny recommendations 
and to present an action plan for agreement.

Policy Framework: None.

Consultation: Legal, Finance, Access to Services.

Recommendation(s): It is recommended that:

1) The response as outlined in the report and related action plan be agreed.

Report Author: Sian Bingham

Finance Officer: Carol Griffiths

Legal Officer: Stephanie Williams

Access to Services 
Officer:

Sherill Hopkins

1.0 Introduction

1.1 The School Readiness Inquiry report was submitted to Cabinet in April 2017 
after the Scrutiny Inquiry Panel completed its detailed inquiry. Providing 
services for young children relies on a number of inter-dependencies with 
services across the Council and the Health Board as well as the Third Sector to 
yield successful outcomes.  The Inquiry focused on “How can school readiness 
be improved in Swansea?”  The scrutiny report is attached as Appendix A.

1.2 Having considered the contents of the scrutiny report, and specific 
recommendations made the advice to Cabinet on whether it should agree, or 
not agree, with each recommendation is detailed in this report.

1.3 Cabinet is also asked to consider, for each of the responses, any relevant policy 
commitments and any other relevant activity and resource needs. 

2.0 Response to Scrutiny Recommendations

Recommendation 1
Support those initiatives that are clearly improving school readiness 
and monitor impact.

Appendix B

Page 47



Action already being undertaken:  
As detailed in the Scrutiny Report there are a number of programmes, 
services and approaches making a considerable impact in relation to 
the outcomes of young children and their families.

There is commitment from the Local Authority to supporting this area of 
work as well as a clear multi-agency drive via the Healthy City Board 
and the Public Services Board.

At a national level there is a commitment to the continuation of a 
number of the major Programmes in the “Taking Wales Forward”.  

New actions following from the recommendation: 
Continue to support and, where possible, build on successful initiatives 
that promote school readiness through investments made via the Local 
Authority, Welsh Government and collaboration on a multi-agency 
basis.

Continue to work with partners to integrate services to meet the 
identified needs of families.

To invest in a Prevention Invest to Save Framework in order to further 
develop the reporting of impact.
Cabinet Member Comments:  Recommendation is agreed.

Recommendation 2
Support the ethos and practice of Flying Start and use this as a basis 
for developing early years services outside of the designated areas 
(with the longer term aim of providing coverage across the City and 
County of Swansea.)
Action already being undertaken:

This is one of the aims within the Best Start Strategy, initiated via 
Health City Partnership. Progress has been made over the last few 
years to achieve this within available resources. Examples include:

The Jig-so Project has been established to work Swansea wide with 
young parents under 25 from pre-birth and throughout their child’s 
infant years. The service draws on the principles of the Flying Start 
Programme in relation to the provision of support for the family and the 
child through a multi-disciplinary and agency service including 
midwifery, parenting and language development.  

An exemplar Project was initiated and commissioned by the GP 
Penderi Network to support families and their young children outside 
Flying Start areas with a focus on improving parenting skills. As the 
Panel heard, whilst it is early days, the post has been very successful 
to date and provided a much needed resource in the area. 

During the last year the Local Authority has been supporting the Health 

Page 48



Board’s Commissioning processes in relation to developing a proposal 
to address gaps in speech, language and communication for children 
of pre-school/nursery age.

New actions following from the recommendation: 
To continue to develop the Jig-so project in partnership with the Health 
Board and, should additional resource be available, to extend the 
criteria to include parents over 25.

To explore the possibilities with the University to start the process of 
formally evaluating the Jig-so Project.

To discuss with the Health Board and GP Networks how the funding 
can be maintained and extended for the GP Penderi Network Early 
Years worker service. This would also include in relation to replicating 
the good practice in other GP Network areas in the future. 

To share good practice from Flying Start Childcare settings with non 
Flying Start childcare settings via the implementation of the Free 
Childcare Pilot.

Continue to work with the Health Board to develop Speech and 
Language services in the Early Years prior to Reception.

Cabinet Member Comments:  Recommendation is agreed where the 
ethos and practice has proven successful, and agree with the need for 
a Universal approach.

Recommendation 3
Ensure the Early Years Services led by the Flying Start Service in 
collaboration with the Additional Learning Needs Unit in Education 
prepare for the changes in the Additional Learning Needs Reform 
legislation.
Action already being undertaken:  
Two actions have taken place in the Flying Start Service to date to 
prepare for the changes in the Additional Learning Needs (ALN) reform 
legislation for the Early Years population.   

 Attendance at conferences led by the Welsh Government to 
increase understanding of the legislative changes and stage of 
reform process.

 The Additional Learning Needs Strategy Group in the Flying 
Start Service has engaged in a review of the current processes 
and provision in relation to children with emerging Additional 
Learning Needs across the Swansea Flying Start Service. 

The following section summarises the current processes and provision 
in the Flying Start Service within Early Years in relation to ALN.

A number of tools are available to support the identification of children 
with emerging Additional Learning Needs within the Swansea Flying 

Page 49



Start Service.  Some of these tools are already embedded; however, it 
was highlighted and recognised that there are also many tools that are 
at an early stage of implementation.

A number of different processes and services are available to facilitate 
early intervention to support the needs of children with ALN within the 
Swansea Flying Start Service.  In addition, these processes and 
services are available to support the further exploration of the needs of 
children with emerging ALN.  These include 

 Individual Play Plans, 
 Home based block play sessions by Early Language 

Development Team and the Speech Therapy Team,
 Developmental play sessions in the Stepping Stones Additional 

Learning Needs Children’s Centre, 
 Consultation work with the Flying Start Speech and Language 

Therapy Service to empower childcare staff and parents,
 Consultation work with the Flying Start Educational Psychologist 

to empower childcare staff and parents,
 Joint consultation work with the Flying Start Speech and 

Language Therapy Service and the Flying Start Educational 
Psychologist for children with emerging or identified social 
communication difficulties to empower childcare staff and 
parents,

 Informal drop in consultations for advice with the Flying Start 
Educational Psychologist,

 Flying Start Additional Learning Needs Panel.  This panel 
provides a decision making mechanism for the provision of 
Additional Staff Support for children with the most significant and 
complex levels of Additional Learning Needs in Flying Start 
childcare settings to provide enhanced learning opportunities,

 A number of different services within Flying Start refer to 
services out of Flying Start (within Health and Education) to 
further explore a child’s underpinning difficulty and to seek 
decisions regarding provision to meet the needs of children with 
emerging or identified ALN.

New actions following from the recommendation: 

It is recognised the second draft of the Additional Learning Needs 
Code of Practice regarding the legislative reforms for ALN in Wales 
published by the Welsh Government in February 2017 still provides a 
substantial lack of clarity.  This lack of clarity particularly pertains to the 
responsibilities of Local Authority services in relation to Early Years 
populations regarding the ALN legislative reforms in Wales.  

It is also recognised that the ALN legislative reforms in Wales are not 
likely to be formally implemented for a number of years.  In addition, it 
is probable that a staged approach to implementation will be advocated 
by the Welsh Government.  

Page 50



However, it is also recognised that it is nevertheless important to begin 
to interpret the current and future draft guidance prepared by the Welsh 
Government to begin to prepare for the changes in relation to Early 
Years populations for children with emerging ALN.  Therefore, the 
following recommendations are proposed:

i) As part of the ALN Commissioning Review:

A formal review of the documentation of all of the current processes, 
provision and structures in relation to the identification and intervention 
for children with emerging or identified ALN within the Early Years 
population in Swansea across all Local Authority and Health based 
services.

A working group to be established (or utilising an appropriate 
alternative existing forum/group) that includes both the Early Years’ 
Service and the Additional Learning Needs Unit in Education to 
organise the strategic direction of preparing for the Additional Learning 
Needs reform legislative changes for the Early Years population. 

Scoping visits to neighbouring Local Authorities who have piloted 
implementation of different streams of the legislative changes. 

Exploration and decision making regarding a system for how Individual 
Development Plans can reflect the severity level of a child’s ALN within 
a graduated response within the Early Years population.

ii) Specifically in relation to Flying Start:

An overarching framework to be implemented within the Flying Start 
Service that defines a graduated response to co-ordinate the 
identification of and intervention for children with emerging or identified 
Additional Learning Needs within the Flying Start Early Years 
population.  

To establish a Flying Start centralised Additional Learning Needs Co-
ordinator to support the Flying Start Educational Psychologist to 
promote the co-ordination and implementation of a graduated response 
to support the identification of and intervention for children with ALN in 
Flying Start.  

To explore options to enable individual Flying Start Settings to have 
capacity to implement the graduated response.

Development of a common template for Individual Development Plans 
for Early Years that will be consistent with the Individual Development 
Plans used for the school based and further education populations.

Central Flying Start services to facilitate training in order to:

Page 51



 Promote Flying Start childcare staff knowledge in utilising and 
analysing data generated from assessment tools available to 
identify Additional Learning Needs.

 Increase knowledge in person centred planning philosophy 
across Flying Start services.

 Increase knowledge of Flying Start childcare staff and childcare 
setting based Additional Learning Needs Practitioners in writing 
Individual Development Plans and One Page Profiles. 

 Increase knowledge of childcare settings to facilitate Person 
Centred reviews.

Cabinet Member Comments:  Recommendation is agreed and action 
already commenced.

Recommendation 4
Monitor, use and share the good practice that is emerging in this area.
Action already being undertaken:  
Considerable monitoring is in place of the services and programmes 
and approaches relating to school readiness.  Good practice is also 
shared with wider partners as well as other LAs. There have also been 
many opportunities to showcase the good practice via presentations at 
national conferences etc. 
New actions following from the recommendation: 
There will be a continued review and development of services and 
approaches and links will continue to be maintained and developed 
with leading academics and researchers with expertise in this area of 
work.
Cabinet Member Comments:  Recommendation is agreed as already 
in place.

Recommendation 5
Work with schools to ensure that they are child ready and welcoming to 
all of their pupils by:
a) Developing guidance for what constitutes a “child ready” school.
b) Encourage schools and governing bodies to develop a community 
engagement strategy which clearly identifies how they will work with 
parents of pre-school and in the early years.(Including Welsh 
Government toolkit being more widely shared and contents more 
closely considered by schools).
c) More vigorously challenging schools on their child readiness using 
minimum standards developed in 4.8.
Action already being undertaken:  

a) There are a number of schools already demonstrating good 
practice in relation to being “child ready”. However there is no 
overarching guidance on this to ensure consistency from school 
to school. 

b) A number of schools have excellent relationships with the local 
community and in some cases this includes engagement with 
children and their families before they start school. Some 

Page 52



schools have adopted the Welsh Government Family and 
Community Engagement (FACE)Toolkit and have been 
engaged in a research project on school engagement with the 
community via UWTSD. There is however a need to articulate 
an overarching expectation for all schools in relation to the 
approach relating to community engagement including pre-
school.

c) This is an area identified for development.
New actions following from the recommendation: 

a) Guidance to be developed following the appointment of a new 
Foundation Phase Performance Specialist who will take up post 
in September 2017. Schools, Flying Start Link Teachers and 
Health colleagues and others with expertise relating to pre-
school/nursery aged children will also be asked to feed into the 
guidance.

b) Communication will be issued to schools to promote the Family 
and Community Engagement Toolkit emphasising that engaging 
families in their children’s learning is a powerful way of raising 
standards and well-being in schools and is also essential in 
narrowing the attainment gap between learners from richer and 
poorer backgrounds.

c) Alongside the Challenge Advisors the new Foundation Phase 
Performance Specialist will be expected to provide a specific 
focus on Early Years including school readiness. The 
Foundation Phase Performance Specialist will be expected to 
also work collaboratively with relevant partners including Flying 
Start, Health Visiting and Childcare providers in order to achieve 
this.

Cabinet Member Comments:  Recommendation is agreed and action 
already commenced.

Recommendation 6
Encourage the use of the Pupil Development Grant by schools and/or 
clusters to help develop school readiness particularly when working 
with parents, families and communities.
Action already being undertaken:
Currently Challenge Advisors discuss the utilisation and effectiveness 
of the Pupil Development Grant on a school by school basis. This 
information has not to date been centrally collated and reported.

New actions following from the recommendation: 
The Education Improvement Service will map the utilisation of the Pupil 
Development Grant during the first term of the 17/18 academic year. 
This will include the identification of specific expenditure and activities 
relating to school readiness. 

Challenge Advisors will be asked to encourage the utilisation of the 
grant for school readiness purposes citing examples of good practice 

Page 53



identified through the mapping process.

However it should be noted that the terms and conditions of the Pupil 
Development Grant have become more restrictive. There is a need 
therefore to also explore other funding options in relation to Early Years 
learners with a clear focus on its targeting in relation to “age and stage” 
appropriate school readiness approaches and models of delivery. 
Cabinet Member Comments:  Agree, PDG is one of a number of 
funding sources to be explored for the purposes of benefitting Early 
Years learners and their families.

Recommendation 7
Ensure that the recently introduced Foundation Phase Profile baseline 
has more consistency and robustness.
Action already being undertaken:  
This is a relatively new national assessment which has only been 
implemented since September 2015. Data is collated during the 
summer months for analysis.

The results produced for year 1 reflected inconsistencies suggesting 
differences in interpretation and application across all primary schools. 
It is however acknowledged that it takes a number of years to fully 
embed a new assessment.

New actions following from the recommendation: 

Following the appointment of a new Foundation Phase Performance 
Specialist who will take up post in September 2017 the data produced 
during the 2015/16 and 2016/17 academic years will be further 
analysed. 

A plan will be developed and implemented to address identified issues 
arising from the analysis such as including areas for further training 
and challenge.
Cabinet Member Comments: Agreed, this has the potential to 
become a universal and robust measure, similar to that available in 
other countries.

Recommendation 8
Develop minimum standards in relation to transition to school for both 
schools and day care settings.

Action already being undertaken:  

Within the Flying Start Programme there are very effective examples of 
good practice relating to Transition from Childcare to Nursery. 
Swansea’s model of locating Flying Start settings on primary school 
sites has been instrumental in ensuring effective transition. 

Many examples of good practice within Flying Start schools have been 

Page 54



recognised in School Estyn Inspection Reports.

During the last year the Local Authority has been supporting the Health 
Board’s Commissioning processes in relation to developing a proposal 
to address gaps in speech, language and communication for children 
of pre-school/nursery age.

Swansea’s Flying Start Programme was selected as 1 of 5 LAs to take 
part in a national programme to track children from Flying Start and into 
school and beyond. The purpose of this is to link national datasets 
between health and education to identify the impact of the Programme 
on individual children’s outcomes.

Achieving a consistent approach to transition outside the Flying Start 
model was identified as an area for development both from a childcare 
setting to school and between health visiting and school.

The Early Years Transition Group led by the previous Foundation 
Phase Performance Specialist was developed to support the 
progression of the Swansea Early Years Strategy with a particular 
focus on:

 Developing minimum standards in relation to transition for early 
years services

 Ensuring that each school has an EY Plan in place setting out 
how children’s holistic needs will continue to be supported 
during the Foundation Phase in order to build on the momentum 
gained

It recognised that whilst there is a wealth of data collected about 
children, it was not clear what information schools receive from the 
perspective of the child and their family, about the individual needs of 
children to enable smooth and successful transition into school. 

Recognising children’s right to voice in decisions that affect them, the 
group explored how children could further contribute to shaping their 
transition. 

A common information booklet was drafted and presented to YCA. 
These standards were agreed by the Swansea Primary Head teachers 
Association for implementation.

New actions following from the recommendation: 
The new Foundation Phase Performance Specialist taking up post in 
September 2017 will be required to implement and monitor this 
recommendation working closely with partners.

In addition transition will need to be re-visited in light of the new Free 
Childcare Pilot being implemented from September 2017 whereby 
there will be a greater expectation of close working between schools 

Page 55



and childcare providers.

Continue to work with the Health Board to develop Speech and 
Language services in the Early Years prior to Reception.

The National Flying Start Data Linking Pilot will be implemented during 
2018.

Cabinet Member Comments:  Agreed.

Recommendation 9
Support the “Best Start Swansea Initiative” as a Public Service Board 
priority for the coming 12 months.
Action already being undertaken:  

Early Years and specifically the Best Start Messages formed one of the 
4 priorities for the PSB during 2016/17.

There is support from some members of the PSB for an Early Years 
focus for the next 12 months particularly given its importance in relation 
to the Future Generation Act and with drivers such as the Adverse 
Childhood Experiences.

The PSB has organised a process for partners to be involved in 
selecting its priorities.
New actions following from the recommendation: 
That Early Years is identified as a priority in the forthcoming PSB 
workshop on 11 July and Board meetings.
Cabinet Member Comments:  Agree, and the messages need to be 
provided not only to service users, but within PSB organisations too. 

2.1 An action plan for the agreed recommendations will be developed.

3.0 Equality and Engagement Implications

3.1 An informal EIA was completed as part of the Scrutiny Inquiry and there is also 
a draft EIA in place for the Early Years Strategy.  This will be re-visited following 
the Inquiry and then undergo the quality assurance process as required.  The 
draft EIA is available as a background paper. 

3.2 The purpose of the Strategy is to improve all young children’s outcomes so that 
they are ready for school and tackling health inequalities through the universal 
approach.

3.3 Our approach is in line with the premise of the Marmot approach to target services 
universally however ensuring that support is proportionate to need. 

3.4 The Strategy has been developed with specific equality issues in mind:

Page 56



 Poverty – The focus is to narrow the developmental gap in young children so that 
they are ready for school and beyond

 The active development of and targeting of support from -9 months to 3. The audit 
also highlighted a gap in Service provision in this area.

 The Strategy is also aimed at parents and carers of young children to achieve the 
required level of sustainability. Parents/carers have already played an active role in 
the development of the Statement.

3.5 The Strategy recognises the rights of children aged 0-18 years as defined in the 
UNCRC and outlines plans to support children to know their rights and have the best 
start in life. This is demonstrated locally through the City and County of Swansea’s 
Children and Young People’s Rights scheme, and through ABMU’s Children’s Rights 
Charter.

3.6 As specific operational developments are planned they will need to take into account 
the active promotion of the Welsh language and access to Welsh medium services.  

4.0 Legal Implications

4.1 No specific legal implications. 

5.0 Financial Implications

5.1 Several of the recommendations are dependent on continued Welsh 
Government grants at a minimum at current levels. There is a commitment in 
the Government’s priorities for continuing to support the Flying Start and 
Families First Programmes and the Pupil Deprivation Grant for the 5 year term.

Background Papers: Draft EIA reports

Appendices:
Appendix A – Original Scrutiny Report

Page 57


	Agenda
	3 Readiness for Schools Scrutiny Inquiry Impact and Follow-up Report
	RFS Action Plan as agreed at Cabinet 15 June 17 v0.3
	Appendix C - School Readiness Final Report Cabinet 20 Apr 17
	Appendix B - Cabinet Response - School Readiness scrutiny Inquiry


